UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES, TAMALE

ASSESSING THE TRAINING OF TEACHERS ON SEX EDUCATION IN THE GUMANI/NYANSHEGU CIRCUIT IN THE SAGNARIGU DISTRICT

ANAADUMBA HELEN-ZILFAH

UDS/MTD/0020/14





2017

UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES, TAMALE

ASSESSING THE TRAINING OF TEACHERS ON SEX EDUCATION IN THE GUMANI/NYANSHEGU CIRCUIT IN THE SAGNARIGU DISTRICT

ANAADUMBA HELEN-ZILFAH

UDS/MTD/0020/14

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS, FACULTY OF EDUCATION, UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY DEGREE IN TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT



SEPTEMBER, 2017

i

DECLARATION

Candidate's Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original work and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere except for where due acknowledgement has been made in the context.

Candidate's Signature: Date.....

Name: Anaadumba Helen-Zilfah

Supervisor's Declaration

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the thesis was supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of thesis laid down by the University for Development Studies.



Supervisor's Signature: Date.....

Name: Rev. Fr. Dr. Thomas Asante

ABSTRACT

Most young people are ignorant about issues of their sexuality (Alter, 2002). Studies aimed at improving the understanding of young people about their sexuality have mostly been targeted at young people themselves. This study sought to find out how teacher training influences sex education in basic schools and how this contributes to improvement in the sexual attitude of young people. The study explored how sexuality education is taught in basic schools, the adequacy of training teachers received on sexuality education, sources of information on sexuality education for young people and the challenges that hinder the teaching of sexuality education. The study which adopted the descriptive survey research design, used questionnaires as the main tool to collect both quantitative and qualitative data for analysis. A sample of eightythree (83) respondents from ten (10) out of fifteen (15) basic schools in theGumani/ Nyanshegu circuit were involved in the study. Findings revealed inadequate continuous professional training for teachers to update their knowledge on sex education, inadequate initial training for teachers on sexuality education and socio-cultural and religious beliefs and practices of a people affecting the ability of teachers in the teaching of sex education in school. The study recommends regular in-service training for teachers, inclusion of sex education in the curriculum for the initial training of teachers and in the basic school curriculum, as well as the provision of Teaching and Learning Materials (TLMs) for involving sex education at the basic school level.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

My sincerest appreciation goes to the Almighty God for his grace and mercies upon my life and to my supervisor, Rev. Fr. Dr. Thomas Asante, for his patience and guidance throughout this work.



DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my family the "Alandos"



TABLE OF CONTENTS



2.2.6 Cognitive consistency approach	22
2.2.7 Self-efficacy theory	23
2.3 Conceptual Framework and Literature Review2	28
2.3.1 The Nature of Education	28
2.2.2 Teacher continuous professional training	33
2.3.3 Meaning and nature of sexuality education	37
2.3.4 Importance of Sexual Education	44
2.3.6 Teacher Training on Sex Education	54
2.3.7 Sexuality-Related Problems	56
2.3.8 Sources of sexual information	59
2.3.9 Sex education globally and in Africa7	70
2.3.10 Sex education in Ghana7	72
2.3.10 Sex education in Onalia	74
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education7	75
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75
 2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 75
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 75 76
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 75 76 76
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 76 76 77
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 75 76 76 77
2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education	75 75 75 76 76 77 77 77



CHAPTER FOUR
FINDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Findings
4.2.1 Demographic variables and respondents profile
4.2.2 Research Questions 1: Knowledge of teachers in sex education
4.2.3 Research Questions 2: Influence of Training Teachers' Receive on the Teaching of
Sex Education
4.2.4 Research Questions 3: Challenges affecting the teaching of sex education
CHAPTER FIVE
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Summary of Findings
5.3 Conclusion
5.4 Recommendations
REFERENCES
APPENDIX1: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR HEADTEACHERS AND CIRCUIT SUPERVISOR
APPENDIX2: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR TEACHERS 122



www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

In all aspects of the school and its surrounding education community, the rights of the whole child, and all children, to survival, protection, development and participation are at the centre. This means that the focus is on learning which strengthens the capacities of children to act progressively on their own behalf through the acquisition of relevant knowledge, useful skills and appropriate attitudes; and which creates for children, and helps them create for themselves and others, places of safety, security and healthy interaction. (Bernard, 1999). Sex education is a lifelong process of building a strong foundation for sexual health through acquiring information and forming attitudes, beliefs and values about identity, relationship and intimacy. According to Toor (2012) sex education is a broad term treated as a usual topic for health education and used to describe education about human sexual anatomy, reproductive health and rights, emotional relations, responsibilities, abstinence, contraception and other aspects of human sexual behaviour. Sex education is also defined by Frimpong (2010) as a systematic attempt to promote the healthy awareness in the individual on matters of his or her sexual development, functioning, behaviour and attitudes through direct teaching.



The two definitions above suggest that sex education goes beyond merely answering simple questions by children about their sexual organs. It includes supplying facts about the anatomy and physiology of the organs of reproduction and providing help and direction to boys and girls in establishing appropriate masculine and feminine roles. World Health Organisation (2010) is also of the view that the development of acceptable sexual behaviour in preparation for marriage;

and forming a foundation for responsible parenthood and a stable family life is at the core of sex education. It also includes comprehending the issues in population control, teaching the importance of preventing certain infectious diseases; and reducing the problems of premarital pregnancies, abortions and illegitimacy (World Health Organisation, 2010).

Also, any subject in the curriculum that seeks to inform and prepare the child for his role in life, his relationship to others, facts about health habits, personal development and interest in work is unquestionably preparing him/her for family living and therefore can be described as sex education (Rahman, 2001). Furthermore, information and improved understanding of sexuality are definite to adolescents and therefore amenable to education, because it is the basic responsibility of teachers to educate children about their health, sex, organs, morality and behaviour (Frimpong, 2010). Teachers have a responsibility to ensure that their pupils do not obtain wrong information as misconceptions may lead to many sexually related problems. Surprisingly teachers' attitudes towards the teaching of sex education in schools have been lackadaisical. Their reactions to students' sexual activity have remained that of either expelling or suspending them from studies. This means, a student discovered involving in any sexual activity or relationships, is punished instead of being helped or advised otherwise; hence, students miss school and education (Petro, 2009). Good teacher attitude towards sex education could play an imperative role in both shaping the academic development, and influencing social lives of students. However, Petro (2009) argued that teachers tend to concentrate on academics, ignoring important social aspects of life like sexuality. Although teachers are the preferred agents for provision of sexual and reproductive health education to students in schools, Hellar (2001), contend that they are reluctant in doing so.



2

1.2 Problem Statement

The consequences of lack of sex education are enormous and inimical to the health and wellbeing of Ghana's population as well as development in general. In terms of education, it results in reduced school retention and poor knowledge of students' sexuality (Frimpong, 2010). It is estimated that about fifteen (15) million adolescents aged between 15 - 19 years give birth yearly, four (4) million obtain abortion, and about one hundred million (100,000,000) become infected with sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) annually (USAID, 2004).

Literature shows that adolescents lack accurate information about early sexual relations and the related consequences. Ndeki, Keap, Kema, Babuel, & Msuya (1994) found that a high percentage of boys and girls become sexually active at an early age, when they are still in primary school. Thus, from a public health point of view, primary schools present one of the most important sexual infectious disease prevention arenas, since a large number of children can be reached at an early age before developing behavioural patterns that may make them extremely vulnerable to sexually infectious diseases (Ndeki, et al, 1994). UNICEF indicates that 120 million young individuals engage in premarital sexual intercourse without any protection and unsafe abortions (UNICEF, 2001; Avert, 2009). The World Health Organisation (WHO), (2006) suggests that each year around the world, adolescent unsafe abortions are estimated to be five (5) million (WHO, 2006).

Moreover, the statistics from the World Health Organisation indicate that almost 200 women are dying daily as a result of unsafe abortions as well as several untold levels of severe problems caused by direct abortion-related complications (WHO, 2006). These incidences indicate inadequate sexuality knowledge among these women and young teenagers in schools.

Throughout human history, sexuality has been perceived as a threat to people's health: untreatable STIs and unintended pregnancies were almost always grave risks associated with sexual encounters (UNICEF, 2001). Sexuality education thus fulfils this highly needed function of sexual health promotion.

However, the main sources of information about sexuality for most students are peers and various media which are limited in scope and accuracy. For example, talking to friends is unsatisfying since they are also uninformed (Mbonile & Kayombo, 2008). At the same time parents are unwilling to discuss sexual matters with their children because they are too embarrassed or because their cultural orientation and beliefs oppose it (Ikamba & Ouedraogo, 2003; UNICEF, 2006). Meanwhile, children and teenagers are exposed to a barrage of information related to sexuality which require guidance from the family and school for a healthy sexual development and responsible behaviour. Due to the impact of Western civilization, there is need to supplement the training of young people in the art of family life by their parents and family members with a school-based sexuality education programme.



Studies on sex education have mostly addressed sexual behaviour in the context of HIV and AIDS in terms of risk and prevention, such as the use or non-use of condoms (Lugoe, 1996). Other researchers reported that adolescents are knowledgeable about the mode of preventing unintended pregnancies (Mwakagile, et al., 2001), yet still, they engage in unprotected sex. Ikamba & Ouedraogo (2003) addressed adolescent sexuality in terms of early initiation of sexual intercourse and adolescents' sex partners. Lugoe (1996) focused on self-restraining behaviours. Mkumbo and Tungaraza (2007) focused on students' attitudes towards Sex and Relationship Education (SRE). Sex education is necessary for students and it plays a very important role in

the prevention of HIV/AIDS (Tilakavathi, Divekar, & Mehendale, 1997). Sex education influences contraceptive knowledge and behaviour (Dawson, 1986).

Parents are generally uncomfortable in talking to their children about human sexuality and mothers are reluctant to talk about sex education to their daughters as they found it embarrassing to discuss those issues (Reis & Seidl, 1989). Studies have shown that parents, teachers involved in sex education should have some special personal characteristics as well as good training and the attitude towards sex education to be encouraging in their behaviour (Kakavoulis, 2001; Badhan et al. 2002). Majority of parents, teachers and students supported that sex education should be introduced in school curriculum that will help prevent unwanted pregnancies, enhance healthy relationship between opposite sex, parental transmission of HIV/AIDS infections and STDs and toward providing the knowledge of sex interactions, consequences and responsibilities (Orji & Esimai, 2003). School children are positively inclined to accept formal AIDS education as a part of classroom teaching.

According Todaro & Smith, (2009) sex education will not prompt students to have sex, hence sex education should be included in the curriculum. The study area, Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit is a heavily populated area with seventeen Basic schools in the Sagnarigu district in Tamale in the Northern Region. The inhabitants are mostly Dagombas, who are predominantly Muslims, with a sizable number of Christians and other denominations. Demographic information available reveal that the population in the area are mostly young people between the ages of one to nineteen years. Classroom interactions with school pupils reveal that most of them are completely ignorant of sexuality issues, this results in many of them getting pregnant and dropping out of school. According to the School Assessment Report for Our Lady of Fatima

School Complex, for 2014/2015 academic year, ten pupils dropped out of school and four out them were due to pregnancy (School Assessment Report, 2016). Also, data available from the information systems unit of the Sagnarigu District Office, revealed that every year, an average of two pupil's dropout of basic school due to sexuality related challenges such pregnancy and early marriages (EMIS, 2016). This situation is compounded by the lack of structured content for the teaching and learning of sex education. Teachers do not also have the knowledge and appropriate techniques of handling sexuality related issues in the classroom. In this regard, teacher training on sex education is key to equipping teachers with the right content, skills and techniques to handling issues of sexuality with their students. However, studies on sex education have always concentrated on adolescents, basic school learners and senior secondary school learners. From the literatures reviewed for this study, it is evident that no studies have been conducted in the field of training teachers on sex education in basic schools as the main focus in Ghana. This study therefore seeks to fill the gap on training of teachers on sex education, which is key in the teaching of sex education in basic schools, the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit.

1.3 Research Objectives

The main objective of this study was to assess how the training of teachers influences sex education. The specific research objectives were to:



- 1. Assess how knowledgeable teachers are in sex education
- 2. Find out how the training teachers receive influence the teaching of sex education
- 3. Identify the challenges affecting the teaching of sex education

1.4 Research Questions

The main question addressed in this study was, how does the training of teachers' influence sex education? The specific research questions were:

- 1. How knowledgeable are teachers in sex education?
- 2. How does the training teachers receive influence the teaching of sex education?
- 3. What are the challenges affecting the teaching of sex education?

1.5 Significance of the study

Findings of this study could be useful to the Ghana Education Service and other practitioners in the education sector on how to equip teachers with accurate knowledge and appropriate teaching methodologies on sex education and also with the right attitude to handle the behavioural problems related to sex education in their various schools which will contribute to empowering pupils about their sexuality, help reduce the incidence of teenage pregnancy, unsafe abortions and other related health hazards.



Results of this study could also be useful to the Ghana Health Service and the Ministry of Health in consolidating their health promotion and education policies. The study would help policy makers to device policies to address the phenomenon of poor sex education in basic schools. The study is directed towards the knowledge base of the health prompters so as to create a better understanding of the issues teachers are confronted with. Stakeholders could also gain more insight into the phenomenon which could enable them to respond positively and effectively towards extending a helping hand to individuals who are not informed of their sexuality. The findings of this study could also be used by other researchers as a baseline study for future studies in the area.

The findings from this study will hopefully be useful to policy makers in their bid to formulate effective policies in favour of sex education in schools. More specifically, this study will provide inputs for a refined approach at intensifying campaigns on the need to include sex education in school curriculums, demystify any myths and misunderstandings on sex education and facilitate equitable access to sexual and reproductive health education. This will ultimately help in the achievement of the SDGs on health and propel development as a whole.

1.6 Delimitation

This research work covered teachers of ten selected basic schools, ten head teachers and a circuit supervisor of the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit in the Sagnarigu district. This was on purpose as the researcher herself was a teacher in the circuit, which made the administration of questionnaire easier during the data collection process. The researcher was also available to explain to respondents on questions they were not clear with. This helped in addressing the limitation experience during the data collection process.

1.7 Limitation



The study was limited by the fact that, the schools under study were scattered across the circuit, which made movement from one school to the other difficult. Some respondents collected copies of the questionnaire but returned them unanswered after keeping them for two weeks with the reason that they could not find time to answer them. Some also thought the researcher was carrying out a government exercise and so did not want to be part of that; but the researcher took time to explain to their understanding before some of them agreed to complete the questionnaire.

1.8 Organisation of the study

The study is organized into five chapters. Chapter one introduces the thesis, highlighting the main subject and problem statement; the aims and objective, limitations, delimitations and significance of the study. Chapter two focuses on the literature review and touches on in-service training/continuous professional development, sexuality, sexuality related problems, sources of sexual information, sex education locally and globally and attitudes of teachers towards the teaching of sex education. The chapter also explains the impact of teachers' attitudes towards sex education. Chapter three is devoted to the research methodology employed including the statistical methods used in analysing the data and results. Chapter four presents the analysis of the data, discussions and interpretation of the findings of the survey. Chapter five summarizes and concludes the study and makes recommendations based on the findings of the study.



CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Sexuality education of young people has been the focus of many studies in the past. Sources and nature of sexual information have been identified to include schools, media, worship centres, peers and parents. The extent to which these sources of sexuality information are used by young people, vary from one society to the other; because of the socio-cultural, political and economic variations. The school, which is often cited as the most reliable source of information, unfortunately is constraint in sexuality education due to the lack of content for teaching the subject and the lack of training of teachers to teach the subject at the basic school level. This chapter therefore reviews the concepts of training in the contest of continuous professional development of teachers; it explores the meaning and nature of training, meaning of sexuality, importance of sexuality education, sources of sexuality education, training teachers on sex education, sexuality-related problems, sex education globally and in Ghana. The chapter also looks at the challenges affecting the teaching of sex education.



The Meaning and Nature of Training

Training has been defined as "The systematic development of the knowledge, skills and attitudes required by an individual to perform adequately a given task or job" (Armstrong, 1997). Training has also been defined in the Glossary of Training Terms (Manpower Services Commission, U.K.) as a planned process to modify performance, through an enhancement of knowledge, skills and behaviour through learning experience to achieve effective performance in an activity or range of activities (Ackah & Agboyi, 2016). Its purpose in the work situation is to develop the

abilities of the individual and to satisfy current and future manpower needs of the organisation. It clearly implies that the role of training is to improve human resource development towards an increase in the overall performance of an organisation, which invariably is interwoven with training (Armstrong, 1997).

To operate training in a systematic manner, it has to cover inter related stages and processes as graphically depicted by Armstrong's training module below:



Figure 2.1: Armstrong's training module, 1997



As depicted in figure 2.1, training must include strategies that enable a good understanding of the aims and needs of the organization and how these are achieved by range of jobs within the organisation. Also, it is crucial to analyse the training needs of employees and fill in this gap. This is done by: 1. Analysing the knowledge, skills and attitudes/behaviours that is required for performing each job; and 2. Assessing the competence level of job-holders to meet those

requirements. Further, there should be setting of aims and learning objectives which guides the type of training, their design (including timing and methodologies) and desired outcomes.

Training is the total sum of formal and informal learning and experience achieved by the teacher (Fullan, 1995). Fullan, Hill and Crevola (2006) use the term "professional learning" to refer to the continuous and focused daily learning of teachers, both individually and collectively. According to Day (1999), professional development consists of both natural and conscious learning experiences, which can directly or indirectly benefit the individual, group or school and enhance the quality of education in the classroom. He is of the view that, professional development renews and enhances the commitment of teachers as change agents to the core mandate of teaching; which they are critically thought to develop the right knowledge, skills and intelligence necessary for use as teachers. (Day, 1999).

Birman, Desimone, Porter, & Garet, (2000), also contend that teachers' professional

development can be categorise into two: namely, the traditional and the 'reform-type' of professional development. According to Clarke & Hollingsworth (2002), the traditional method of professional development for teachers, assumes that there is a gap in knowledge and skills which needs to be developed using the workshop approach. This assession, is supported by Desimone, Porter, Garet, Yoon, & Birman (2002), who argue that the traditional method of professional development for teachers are often workshops or trainings that are organised within the district or outside of the district, which also include formal postgraduate courses (Desimone et. al., 2002). Even though the traditional method of teachers' professional development helps to advance teachers' interest in increasing their knowledge and skills, the approach alone is not adequate to advance learning, which basically modifies teaching methods (Boyle, While, &



Boyle, 2004)". The traditional approach in which many topics are tackled in a short time, is not effective for maximizing learning, hence does not help teachers to effectively implement instructional changes (Firestone, Mangin, Martinez, & Polovsky, 2005).

The second model often adopted for teachers' professional development is the 'reform-type', also known as the 'growth' model (Guskey & Huberman, 1995). This model is described by Guskey & Huberman (1995) as a variety of professional development activities that accompanies a continuous appraisal of one's instructional practice. This approach perceives teachers' professional development as a reflection, learning together, and decentralization (Smylie & Conyers, 1991).

Proponents of the 'reform-type' approach to teachers' professional development believe that it is the most effective, when it is carried out within the work setting. According to Sparks & Hirsh (1997), it is essential to note that professional development for teachers must be considered as a multiplicity of job-embedded learning and experience building in order for any meaningful impact to take place. Kwakman, (2003), believes that the school is the best place for teachers to develop new teaching competencies in their practice (Kwakman, 2003). The main objectives of teacher education are to develop awareness, knowledge, skills, attitudes, and evaluation ability to enable them encourage full participation of pupils and students in the teaching and learning process. It has also been argued by Lawal, Adebowale, & Oderinde (2004) that sufficient professional training is the surest way teachers in Africa can be adequately prepared to contain the challenges of the 21st century. He quoted Fafunwa (Akinyemi, 1972) as saying: "For African Teachers to be able to cope with the huge task that lies ahead of them, they have to be adequately trained for the job. Teachers must be willing to assume a new mind set of the African, and must



be willing to collaborate and share new knowledge and skills with other teachers, seek more information on their personal initiatives and above all, be flexible and willing to try out something new.

The new paradigm in education envisages the teacher to be professional and flexible in his/her academic make-up, and should be helped through regular on-the-job training to be abreast with new techniques and skills in the field. This can only be achieved when there is an effective teacher education programme that focuses on increasing the confidence in both teachers and students within the framework of a well-coordinated effective teaching and learning to correct the inherent problem in teacher profession training (Lawal, et. al., 2004). Teachers' professional development is also described by Bolam (2002), as an intentional, ongoing and systematic process of formal and informal training, learning and support activities consciously planned and executed either externally or on-the-job (Bolam, 2002; Hawley & Valli, 1999). It is further suggested that such programmes should be proactively engaged in by qualified, professional teachers, school heads and other school management team members or with others, who have direct or indirect benefit to the teacher or the school (Bolam, 2002; Guskey T. R., 2002b). In line with this assession, Hill, (2007) also suggests that a successful professional development training should address the needs of teachers as learners. This would enhance their professional ability to relate better with students. In the same way, professional development programmes designed in line with instructional goals can improve teaching and learning (Hill, 2007). Professional development training is best achieved when it spans a number of days or is held longer and many hours, preferably 20 hours; allowing enough time for participants to try their hands on the subject (Garet, Porter, Desimone, Birman, & Yoon, 2001).



According to Gabriel et al. (2011), most teachers believe that certain professional development training programmes they attended have significant impact on their professional ability as teachers.

2.2 Theoretical framework

This study relied on several theories on training, attitude and behaviour change. However, the theoretical foundation was largely anchored on the Self-Efficacy theory put forward by Bandura (1997). But in order to appreciate this theory better, other related theories were reviewed in relation to the impact of in-service training of teachers. Some of the theories reviewed included the Primary Socialisation Theory, the Individual Difference theory, the Social-Cultural theory, the Cognitive Consistency Approach etc.

2.2.1. The primary socialization theory

According to Oetting & Donnermeyer (1998), the primary socialization theory suggests that the main sources of sexual information for young people are the family, their peers, the school and the mass media. These are the places where children spend most of their time learning and interacting. The mass media is considered by the theory as one of the powerful sources of sexual education for the young people because it plays a very important role in transmitting consumer commercials via various channels (Bush, Smith, & Martin, 1999). These agents have a great effect on the psychological, emotional, and the level of appreciation of issues by young people as they grow. Their impact goes beyond specific consumer skills such as product selection, brand comparison, price comparison, attitudes toward products and brands (Moore, Raymond, Mittelstaedt, & Tanner, 2002; John, 1999). Other researchers however suggest that, as young



people grow and mature, there can be a change in the effect these primary socialization agents have on them (Clark, Martin, & Bush, 2001).

Evidence by Oetting & Donnermeyer, (1998) point to the fact that while any of these primary socialisation agents are capable of conveying both prosocial and deviant norms, the family and the school are seen as being primarily prosocial and the peer groups and mass media carry the main risk of transmitting deviant norms. Peer groups and the media, according to the above authors, form the last group of primary socialization agents, and have the greatest impact on those alienated from the first two groups (Oetting & Donnermeyer, 1998).

The theory however, failed to recognise the fact that in some societies, parents, school, and media are likely not to be the main sources of sexual information, even though they are considered to be due to several factors. It is widely known that literacy levels are still very minimal in some developing countries, as a result many children end up not attending school or drop out for various reasons. It is obvious that in those societies, media such as television, radio, newspapers, film, books, etc. are likely not to be the primary socialization agent because of high poverty and illiteracy rates and also the unavailability of the needed infrastructure to enable them.



Additionally, it could also be argued that the primary socialization theory does not pay attention to some realities especially like in war-torn societies, where many children become the most victims after losing or have been separated from their parents, are left on their own without any parental character of socialization agent. Obviously, in such societies, parents are unlikely to be

reported as primary socialization agents, because, as observed by FHI/IMPACT (2000), the few parents and adults from such cultural backgrounds do not discuss sexual issues with children in the open because it is highly prohibited and considered embarrassing (FHI/IMPACT, 2000). Based on this observation, it could be concluded that in such societies the primary socialization theory cannot be practicable because parents, school, and media are unlikely to be the primary sexual socialization agents.

Despite the arguments against the primary socialization theory, it is still relevant in this study because of the emphasis it places on the need to regard parents, school, peers and media as part of the socialization agents for young people, which is part of the central aim of this study. In fact, even if parents and media have not been cited in the study area, probably due to the level of education, this theory still helped me to identify the real sources of sexual education for both educated and uneducated youth in this area.

The responsibility of transmitting knowledge to children includes the role of parents, teachers, and religious leaders, which makes it a community responsibility. Oetting & Donnermeyer (1998) therefore suggest that, a concerted effort of all the actors is required to underscore and reinforce the education and counselling of youth on sexual matters.



2.2.2 Information consistency and desired action model

Another theory which was reviewed, is the information consistency and desired action model. This model, Bandura (1986) and Piotrow, et al. (1990) cited by Mbananga (2002) suggests that information of high frequency which are distributed with consistency in meaning, has a better chance of reaching the expected reaction than those that are less frequent and inconsistent.

According to Mbananga (2002), consistency means frequency and trustworthiness in the supply of the content of a particular information. A lack of consistency may arise when there is no coordination in the construction of information resulting in the transmission of contradictory messages. In such cases, the utilisation of the information at the receiving end becomes even difficult and affect decision-making accordingly.

It is also argued that when information reaches the target groups frequently and consistently, it may influence behaviour change more positively and impact on decision making than when it is not (Bandura, 1986; Piotrow, et al., 1990) cited by (Mbananga, 2002). However, Ahmed, Omoogun, & Shaida (2000) also argued that information frequency and consistency does not automatically result in positive behaviour change. They are of the view that other factors such as literacy levels, technology, social, cultural and economic development, influence both the information transmission and the utilisation of such information.



analysing not only the consistency of the content of information obtained from different sources on sexuality, but also the regularity of the information provided. It is in this context that the theory is being reviewed in this study, because an understanding of such consistency helps to ascertain whether or not young people receive contradictory messages from different socialisation agencies or not and how it affects the way they interpret the message in question.

The information consistency and desired action model presents a relevant framework for

2.2.3 Individual difference theory

This theory highlights the influential role of individual's characteristics and qualities often referred to as the individual context, play in social communication on perception of information

on the behaviour of individuals (Redmond, 2000; De Fleur, 1970). Psychologically, it is the sum total of an individual's experiences, from childhood socialisation, education, to previous interactions; better described as the product of one's collective encounters with the world (Redmond, 2000). It includes psychological qualities such as individual needs, values, beliefs, attitudes, personality, and also personal characteristics such as age, sex, race, ethnic background and culture. There is great variation in the personal psychological organisation of people, which, according to Redmond, (2000), plays an important role in every mass education activity.

In the view of De Fleur (1970), these variations in part begin with differential biological endowment, but are due in greater measure to differential learning. From different learning environments, people acquire a set of attitudes, values and beliefs that constitute their personal psychological make-up and set each somewhat a part from his/her fellows (De Fleur, 1970).

In his experimental study of human perception, Redmond (2000) noted that individual's values, needs, beliefs and attitudes played an influential role in determining how they selected stimuli from the environment and the way they attributed meaning to those stimuli within their acquired frames of reference once they came to attention. What constitutes a person's psychological context is anything that in the communication situation that affects the way a person interprets, analyses, encodes, or decodes messages.

However, De Fleur (1970) emphasises that the individual difference theory focuses more on the psychological patterns and seems therefore not to give much credit to the sociological and cultural patterns. He revealed that, beyond the psychological context, people with some common social, economic, demographic and cultural characteristics are likely to perceive



and respond to a stimulus in a more or less equal way (De Fleur, 1970). The individual difference theory is therefore relevant in this study in that it highlights how individual difference influences the way in which young people perceive, interpret and utilise the messages of sexuality they receive from the different sources of information.

2.2.4 Social categories theory

Closely linked to the individual difference theory, is the social categories theory. This theory has been largely applied in social communication to investigate people's preferences of media content, and the perceptions and behaviour towards a given information or stimulus. A fundamental conjecture of the social categories theory is a claims that in spite of the heterogeneous nature of the modern society, people who have similar characteristics will have similar appreciation of social issues. The theory also suggests that there are broad social categories in urban industrial societies whose behaviour in the face of a given set of inducements is almost the same (De Fleur, 1970). Examples of such characteristics, according to De Fleur (1970) are; sex, age, income level, educational attainment, rural-urban residence, and religious affiliation. In the light of social communication, the social categories theory emphasises the fact that people who share common characteristics tend to appreciate similar media content, and are most likely to have same perceptions and behaviour towards the information they received (De Fleur, 1970). Obviously, the individual difference theory and the social categories theory are importantly linked. In fact, the De Fleur (1970) argues that a number of psychological qualities are gradually acquired during the socialisation process, and people with one cultural background are likely to have such psychological qualities in common. The same author further argues that due to other common personal characteristics such as age and sex,



people are likely to have some similar needs. For instance, fashion magazines are not often bought by males; and fishing magazines are seldom read by females (De Fleur, 1970).

In the line with this view expressed by De Fleur (1970), it worthy of note that knowledge of several very simple variables such as age, sex, and educational attainment provides a reasonably accurate guide to the type of information content an individual will select to appreciate the media (Ruben, 1985). The social categories theory is very relevant to this study because it is centred on the way people of different social categories choose to perceive and apply information content such as information on sexuality, depending on whether or not they have a common connection with the information ore the channel through which the information is received. In this study, this theory is reviewed to understand how teachers of different social categories appreciate the need to teach sex education to young people in school.

2.2.5 Social-Cultural Theory



The Social-cultural theory put forward by Vygotsky (1993), has become a major influence in educational psychology studies. The overriding concept of Vygotsky's theory that relate to the central principle of the social-cultural theory is the principle of co-construction of knowledge between the individual and social processes, the function of social interaction in the development of the human brain and the concept of the zone of proximal development to explain learning and teaching (Mahn, 1999). In a further analysis of Vygotsky's theories Gindis (1995) is of the view that the main aspects of Vygotsky's theory that apply to teacher attitude are the theory of socio-cultural activity and the theory of distorted development. That is to say, Vygotskian theory establishes a link between an understanding of the need for specialised education, such as sex

(Vygotsky, 1993; Gindis, 1995). It is therefore important for teachers to undergo regular on-thejob training on sex education in other to understand and appreciate not just the need to teach the subject in school but also provide support to young people to understand issues about their sexuality.

2.2.6 Cognitive consistency approach

According to Feldman (1985), the cognitive consistency approach begins by working with the existing attitudes. The approach also tries to demonstrate how the components of the existing attitude and the desired attitudes should sync together. The author suggests that the cognitive consistency theories view human beings as active information processors, who always try to make meaning out of what they think, feel and do, and actively constructing and interpreting the world to correct any inconsistencies that may occur between different attitudes. In line with this, Sears, Freedman, & Peplau (1985) are also of the view that the cognitive consistency approach, which is borne out of the cognitive tradition portrays people as always striving for reason in their cognitive structure. Both Feldman (1985) and Sears et al. (1985) are of the same view that much as this approach includes a number of related theories, they all share one basic principle that is inconsistency. Inconsistency may occur between cognition about, and affect towards an attitudinal object, between affect towards a person and his position on an issue, or between a person's cognitions; affect and behaviour towards an attitudinal object that is meant to induce change in behaviour (Feldman, 1985). In the light of this theory therefore, it is imperative to note that any training programme that is designed to achieve effectiveness in behaviour change, ensures increased consistency.



2.2.7 Self-efficacy theory

The Self-efficacy theory originated from the Social Cognitive theory developed by Bandura, when he became aware that there was a missing element in that theory. According to Bandura (1977), the Self-efficacy beliefs are fundamental to human functioning. He theorized that perceived self-efficacy makes a difference in how people think, feel, and behave. Theory posits that people faced with constant rejection must possess high self-efficacy, or self-worth, in order to persist (Bandura, 1977). Similarly, Skaalvik & Skaalvik (2007) also share the view that self-efficacy is based on judgment of one's capacity to execute on a given responsibility. It is important to note that people's beliefs in their efficacy can have diverse effects (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007). Artino (2006) postulates that a person must possess the necessary knowledge and skills, as well as the motivation and perception, required for successful exhibition of the required behaviour under difficult circumstances. Johnson (2010) also argues that peoples beliefs influence the courses of action they choose to pursue, how much effort they put forth in a given endeavour, how long they will persevere in the face of obstacles and failures, their resilience to adversity, whether their thought patterns are self-hindering or self-aiding.



Research focus on education has examined the truth in the correlation where one's efficacy beliefs dictate performance and performance determines outcome (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy according to Bandura (1997), is the belief in one's capability to organize and execute the course of action required to manage a prospective situation. These beliefs affect behaviours and ultimately performance outcomes. Bandura (1986) described four sources of self-efficacy as: i. mastery experiences, ii. vicarious experiences, iii. verbal persuasion, and iv. physiological and affective responses (Bandura, 1986). He also argued in another study that mastery experiences thus performance accomplishments, are the most effective way to develop a strong sense of

efficacy. Success in the performance of a task serve as a positive example in shaping future perceptions about the ability to perform well again on a similar task (Bandura, 1977). Bandura considered such positive shaping of perceptions as improvement in self-efficacy. However, failing at a task can serve as a negative past performance that weaken self-efficacy and negatively shape perceptions about capability (Bandura, 1977).

Bandura (1977) is further with the view that another way to develop and maintain self-efficacy, is through indirect experiences, which are generated through social models. Similarly, Bandura and Barab (1973) observed that when people perform intimidating responses without adverse consequences it reduces their fears and inhibitions, thus motivating their actions. Because of this, people who observe others performing such intimidating responses without any adverse consequences are more likely to believe that their attempts at the same action would be successful. A third way to develop self-efficacy is through verbal persuasion, often used to influence behaviour in view of its easy and accessible nature (Bandura, 1977). With suggestions from others, people are often prompted to believe that they have the capability to accomplish a tasks that they previously felt unqualified to do (Bandura, 1977). Verbal influence alone however, is not enough to prompt effective performance; people must also receive the appropriate tools needed to perform a given task (Bandura, 1977).



Finally, Bandura (1997) suggested that the way to develop self-efficacy through is to influence the physical and mental states of a person, which would eventually impact the person's perception about performance, thereby affecting self-efficacy and ultimately performance outcomes. On other hand, fear and anxiety resulting from emotional arousal to stressful situations may negatively influences performance outcomes (Bandura, 1977). Adding to the four sources

of self-efficacy stated earlier, the author explained the differences between the concept of efficacy expectation and outcome expectations. He explained that whereas the latter is a person's estimate that a given behaviour will lead to certain outcomes, the former is the conviction that one can successfully execute the behaviour required to produce the desired outcomes (Bandura, 1977). That is to say, even though a person may believe that a certain behaviour will bring about some perceived results when the person doubts his or her ability to succeed, outcome expectancy will not influence his or her behaviours (Bandura, 1977).

In view of this explanation given by Bandura above, Tschannen-Moran et al. (1998) contend that the self-efficacy theory is among the few conceptualizations of human control that describe a distinction between competence and contingence. These theoretical connections between one's perception of teacher efficacy and one's organizational commitment are relevant in investigating the problem of practice, since they highlight a cognitive link in dissatisfaction-quit sequence (Hom & Kinicki, 2001). This is because a teacher's affective reaction to work and subsequent feelings of commitment are a major theme in attrition (Billingsley, 2004). Perceived self-efficacy refers to beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the course of action required to produce given attainment (Bandura, 1997).



When people build an opinion about a given situation, their anticipation of that situation is transformed thus resulting in an outcome. An outcome expectation is defined as person's estimated action that will leads to a desired outcome (Bandura, 1997). It therefore means that the outcome of a person's behaviour is determined by how a person feels about a given circumstance, based on an evaluation of what kind of outcome to expect. Bandura (1997) further emphasises that a person's perceived self-efficacy and subsequent expectations about a given

situation often determine how much effort he/she puts forth and how long to persist in challenging situations.

However, in a later publication, Bandura (1999) further argues that a person's perceived selfefficacy, or his sense of control of an environment and behaviour, will determine the amount of effort to put forth and how long to persist through challenges and negative experiences (Bandura, 1999). In the context of teachers' attitude towards teaching sex education, which is the focus of this study, it is worthy of note that for there to be acceptance for the effective teaching and learning of the subject in schools, teachers ought to cultivate a positive disposition and a perceived self-efficacy regarding the eventual outcome they intend to achieve, this will enable them to create the appropriate environment towards achieving the desired outcome. Obviously, this will require the collective efforts of not only the teachers and their pupils, but also school authorities and the communities in which the schools are situated. As observed by Bandura (1977), a person's efficacy beliefs influence their course of action, efforts toward a given goal, how long they will persevere through adverse situations, levels of stress and depression in coping with some external demands, and the level of success they are able to attain (Bandura, 1977).





Figure 2.1: Self-efficacy model. Source: Bandura (1977).

Elements of the model includes: Social Persuasion, Imaginal Experience, Physical and Emotional States, Performance Experience and Vicarious Experience.

Albert Bandura defines the model as a personal judgement of "how well one can execute courses



of action required to deal with prospective situations". (Bandura, 1982, pp. 122-147). Expectations of self-efficacy determine whether an individual will be able to exhibit coping behaviour and how long effort will be sustained in the face of obstacles (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998). Individuals who have high self-efficacy will exert sufficient effort that, if well executed, leads to successful outcomes, whereas those with low self-efficacy are likely to cease effort early and fail (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998). Psychologists have studied self-efficacy from several perspectives, noting various paths in the development of self-efficacy; the dynamics of self-efficacy, and lack thereof, in many different settings; interactions between self-efficacy. Kolbe (2009),
adds that belief in innate abilities means valuing one's particular set of conative strengths. It also involves determination and perseverance to overcome obstacles that would interfere with utilizing those innate abilities to achieve goals.

2.3 Conceptual Framework and Literature Review

The theoretical review above was an attempt at assessing the training teachers receive on sex education, sources of sexual information for young people, their appreciation of the content of these information and how this information influence their behaviour. These theories suggest a relationship between the training teachers receive and their attitude towards teaching, which has an impact on how students appreciate what they are thought. Since teachers spend more time with pupils providing them with direction and guidance, it is necessary that the required resources are made available to enable the effective assessment, observation and evaluation of students' performance especial on social and behaviour change related subjects such as sex education. Even, of more importance is the need for capacity building for teacher to improve their commitment to their work. In this study, the influence of teachers training on the teaching of sex education is assessed. In doing this, a number of articles related to sex education generally, globally, in Africa and in Ghana, were reviewed. Other significant areas of literature that were also considered included teachers' continuous professional training.



2.3.1 The Nature of Education

Ahmad, (2001) viewed Education as what is universally recognized to be the prime key of moral, cultural, political and socioeconomic development of a country (Ahmad, 2001). The countries which have taken major programs, with innovative moves yielded amazing results in the last two decades no doubt, with great achievements based on their effective educational system.

According to Ahmad, (2001), the "educational system of any country can provide the guarantee of success and prosperity for their nations." Saeed, (2001) agrees that, the accomplishments of a comprehensive and effective educational system is necessary for the survival of every nation (Saeed, 2001). According to Sule, (2013) the government of Punjab research study in 1998, concluded that, teachers bring about the qualitative change and the desired standards in the educational system. Which ensures the welfare, progress and prosperity of the nation. For this reason, teacher training institutions professionally prepare their teachers, developing and equipping them with all the skills and competencies they require to function well. He further added that, no system of education is better than its personnel and no system depends on the standard of its personnel. Institutional goals and objectives will be achieved successfully If personnel are well qualified, trained, and with the right attitude and behaviour.

According to UNICEF (2000), quality education touches on five key areas namely; healthy learners, healthy environment, content, process and outcome. Dilating on these elements, UNICEF (2000) emphasized that; Learners should be properly catered for and supported by their parents or guardians and members of their communities in order to actively take part in learning. Parents are major stakeholders in the teaching and learning process in that, pupils spend most of the time of the day after school with their parents or guardians. As such, parents should spend quality time with their wards giving them the needed support they require. This will go a long way to compliment what they learn from school which will eventually prepare them very well to face their learning challenges with ease.



The learning environment should not only provide maximum facilities for learning but also should be a safer and a protective place for both teachers and learners irrespective of their gender. Both teachers and learners should feel safe around the school environment void of fear, tensions and anxiety.

Content wise, the curriculum designed should apart from providing skills in literacy and numeracy to learners should also lead to knowledge acquisition in gender, health, nutrition, HIV/AIDS prevention and promotion of peace. Learners should be able to understand all that they are taught and able to apply it to real life situations. When learners identify their strengths they are able under good guidance contribute positively to society. They are also able to improve on their weaknesses through support from both teachers and parents.

Trained teachers should use child-centered approach and appropriate system of examination in the process of teaching to eliminate discrimination. Learning should be active and participatory for learners helping them to discover some concepts on their own than giving them lectures. Teachers should be exposed to best teaching practices during training to enable them plan lessons very well and to also use appropriate methods to enable learners have a better understanding.



The outcome of learning should be provision of knowledge, skills and attitude that are relevant to national development and participation in governance. Learning will definitely be meaningless if learners are not able to demonstrate accurate knowledge, equipped with skills that can earn them living, exhibit positive attitudes that will contribute greatly to nation building. Hence, learning objectives should be seen providing learners with these outcomes.

Governments in their quest to improve the nations' economic competitiveness, they become preoccupied with the effort to increase the standard of education received by the students. This increased expectation in the quality of education sees more teachers facing the prospect of having to teach in ways they had not been taught themselves (McLaughlin, 1997). Hargreaves, (2000) explains that for this reason, "many teachers are starting to turn more to each other for professional learning, for a sense of direction, and for mutual support". Consequently, this has caused the shift in the nature of teaching from working alone in the isolation of their classroom to working in collaboration with their colleagues. It is no wonder therefore that Hargreaves, (2000) asserts that 'there are strong demands for teachers to continuously update their knowledge and skills due to the introduction of new curricula, changes in the characteristics and learning needs of students, new research on teaching and learning and increased pressure for accountability of school teachers and school performance.

NJ CO possess a certain level of content knowledge resulting from their academic training and preservice practicum, which is adequate in the initial stage of their career McCormack et al., (2006). However, both beginning teachers and more experienced teachers still need to deal with inevitable changes that impact upon their practice. Teachers are continually faced with new syllabuses, different assessment and reporting requirements, and additions to curriculum, such as Cultural Language and Literacy and Information and Communication Technologies. In other to deal with change, teachers need new knowledge, skills, and attitudinal dispositions to enhance their effectiveness (Hanley, Piazza, Fisher, & Maglieri, 2005).

In the field of education, early-career teachers, that is, teachers in their first two years of teaching

Educational curriculum should provide for individual differences, closely coordinate and selectively integrate subject matter, and focus on results or standards and targets for student learning (Glatthorn & Jailall, 2000). Curriculum structure should be gender-sensitive and inclusive of children with diverse abilities and backgrounds, and responsive to emerging issues such as HIV/AIDS and conflict resolution. In all content areas, curriculum should be based on clearly defined learning outcomes and these outcomes should be grade-level appropriate and properly Sequenced. Todaro & Smith (2009) justify that health and quality education are interrelated. Greater health capital may improve returns on education investment because it is an important determinant of school enrolment and learning process of a child in a formal education setting. A lot of health programmes rely on fundamental skills learnt at school for their implementation. A better school teaches individual basic hygiene and sanitation issues and it is an environment where the health personnel are trained for jobs.

Watkins (2000) has also argued that, there is correlation between maternal education and child birth. Child birth rate is inversely related to the level of quality of maternal education. The higher a mother is educated, the healthier she and her children are likely to be. For mothers completing five years of quality education, the risk of childhood mortality decreases by about 45/1000 births and their children are not likely to be malnourished. He attributed the mass exclusion of women in education in Sub-Saharan Africa to the death of one child in every four children. The timelessness of referrals, uptake of immunization and the use of antenatal services and clinics are all positively related to quality education. Each of these factors reduces the risks of many potentially life threatened illnesses.



2.2.2 Teacher continuous professional training

Continuous professional training of teachers is often described as the continuous in-service training sessions that teachers are given the opportunity to update their knowledge on specific key subjects aimed at improving their professional capacity. Many authors such as Dean (1991) and Guskey (2000), describe teachers' professional development as a process which is primarily aimed at promoting learning and development of the skills and professional knowledge of teachers. They suggest that, it is a form of training that involves facilitating a group of teachers to learn a particular subject, for example, adolescent sex education. According to Manu (1993), professional development of teachers in Ghana is often described as 'in-service training', and is often focused on implementing refresher trainings are mostly organised by the Teacher Education Division of the Ghana National Association of Teachers (GNAT), the Institute of Education, the Institute of Educational Planning and Administration and the District and Regional Education Office (Manu, 1993).



generally criticize the "deficit" paradigm, which was articulated by Gall & Renchler (1985). This paradigm characterizes professional development as targeted at compensating for a lack in skills or knowledge. It views teachers as empty vessels "to be filled" (Gall & Renchler, 1985). Another context within which professional development is situated, is the "professional growth" paradigm. This paradigm characterizes professional development as more self- directed, arising from the learner's interests and needs (Feiman-Nemser, 2001). Furthermore, some scholars also situate professional development within an "educational change" paradigm, which views development as focused upon bringing about change (Fullan, Hill, & Crevola, Breakthrough,

Professional development for teachers is often situated within one or more paradigms. Scholars

2006; Warren-Little, 2001). Yet still other scholars position professional development within a "problem solving" paradigm which links development to making improvements to address identified issues like student achievement needs (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Joyce & Showers, 2002; McLaughlin & Zarrow, 2001).

According to Guskey (1997), there is a link between the growth and problem-solving notions of professional development. He suggests that the notion was increasingly seen as a process, not an event, that the process is intentional, and is an orderly effort to bring about positive enhancement. Many other researchers such as Day, Sammons, Stobart, Kington, & Gu, (2005; Goodall, Day, Lindsay, Muijs, & Harris (2005) and Lieberman & Miller (2001), call for a similarly integrative view of professional development. A study conducted by Kirby (2001) revealed that teachers equipped with skills and tools for teaching and learning can have an immense impact on the health behaviours of adolescents. Cardno (2005) for example states that professional development for teachers is important to ensure the sustainability and growth of teaching profession. This claim reinforces the assertion by While & Boyle (2004) that the continual deepening of knowledge and skills is an integral part of the professional development of any professional working in any profession (While & Boyle, 2004).



Throughout the world, people learn new things every day. This makes teaching and learning go on all the time whether the teaching is done consciously or unconsciously, formally or informally (Essel, Badu, Owusu-Boateng, & Saah, 2009). According to the authors, approaches to teaching in the different parts of the world vary. For this reason, each country has its own way of going about it and training special people to impart valuable knowledge to its future leaders. They contend since the world has come to realize that it is when useful knowledge has been imparted

to the inhabitants of a country that it would benefit from its manpower, people are officially trained to become teachers. It is in the light of this that in Ghana for instance, the Director General of the Ghana Education Service has challenged teachers to upgrade their teaching skills in order to cope with the rapid advancement in technology (Bannerman-Mensah, 2008). He stressed that would enable them adopt a multi-dimensional approach to meet the various learning abilities of students and pupils.

Teaching is a dynamic profession, and requires not only the development of a professional identity but the construction of professional knowledge and practice through professional learning (McCormack, Gore, & Thomas, 2006), in the light of this, professional teachers are expected to maintain currency in context and pedagogical knowledge. The authors maintain that practicing teachers should make use of the opportunities available to them to maintain currency of their knowledge and to have this properly documented, by participating in school, system or state-organized professional development activities. A concern for school authorities internationally is the 'no guarantee' nature of many of the professional development event available to teachers, that is, they may attend, even participate in programs, yet little if anything may alter in their enacted classroom practice (Karpati & Gaul, 1995).



It is worthy of note that with the recent technologies and innovations happening across the world, the educational system will have to prepare students who can meet their personal needs as well as those of the community in which they live. Gabriel, Day, & Allington, (2011) noted that most teachers admit that their participation in some professional development programmes have significantly impacted on their skills as teachers. It has been proven through research that students' academic achievement are largely based on the quality of instructions they receive in

school. The skills and expertise of the teachers are highly important in this regard. (Kerry, 2004; Scheerens, 1992; Wheldall & Glynn, 1989). According to Ololube (1997), an incompetent teacher is an embarrassment to the teaching profession, may be due to low intellectual capacity, inadequate training, and resistance to modern pedagogical methods, or poor attitude towards teaching (Fafunwa, 1985; Ololube, 1997). Other studies further identified challenges related to performance of students, to the professional ability of both new and experienced teachers (Findlay, 1989). As observed by Ololube (2005), teachers are expected to be professionals who are well-grounded in their specific field of study. They are expected to be adequately prepared to understand their pupils and help them to learn through a well-fashioned integrated educational and professional training they receive (Ololube, 2005).

Joyce and Showers (2002) identified five important interrelated factors to successful in-service training. They include presentation of information, modelling of the teacher strategy, teacher practice in a controlled environment, opportunity for feedback, and transfer to the classroom. This is supported by Wade & Arnold (1984), whose meta-analysis of key components of teacher in-service training, reported that in-service trainings are more effective when they are participatory and provide opportunities for the teachers to practice their newly-learned skills (Wade & Arnold, 1984).



Again, it is worth noting that professional development of teachers through in-service training is a crucial element in teacher educational enhancement. This is because in-service training can be used to improve the organisational structure, policies, physical facilities, and class or school routines. In line with this, Day (1993), argues that due to the frequent curricula changes and the changes in learning characteristics, teachers need to continuously update their knowledge and

skills through research into new teaching and learning methods to ensure proper accountability and school performance. Just as any professional body, teachers require sufficient opportunity for professional development in order for them to keep pace with changing trends and be able to maintain their level of professionalism.

2.3.3 Meaning and nature of sexuality education

WHO (2006), contends that sexuality is the foundation of human life and it includes sex, gender identities and roles, sexual orientation, sexual pleasure, intimacy and reproduction. The organisation further argues that sexuality is mostly expressed in thoughts, fantasies, desires, beliefs, attitudes, values, behaviours, practices, and relationships. Even though sexuality does include all of these elements, not all of these are experienced or expressed by everyone. Sexuality is mostly influenced by the interaction of biological, psychological, social, economic, political, ethical, legal, historical, religious and spiritual factors (WHO, 2006). According to SELL (2017) "sexuality is part of being human. It portrays our individual personality and includes the way we talk, dress, walk etc. it is about relationship with people of the same and/or opposite sex..." (SELL, 2017, p. 51). Furthermore, Eko, Abeshi, Osonwa, Uwanede, & Offiong (2013), argued that sexuality education encompasses education about all aspects of sexuality including information about family planning, reproduction, body image, sexual orientation, sexual pleasure, values, decision making, communication, dating, relationships, sexually transmitted infections and how to avoid them, and birth control methods.

According to Browes (2014) since the 1980s, there has been increasing focus on the importance of providing youth with sexual health education, which has largely been the results of the spread of HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries. The author argues that many of these



education programmes are mostly focused on knowledge building on the need for 'abstinence first' and access to free condoms as a last resort. Their main goal has always been to increase risk awareness (especially in relation to HIV/AIDS), in order to change the perceived risky sexual behaviours of adolescents (Browes, 2014).

However, many a time, despite the positive results in knowledge transfer, many of these programmes often record minimal impact in relation to behaviour change (Aggleton, et. al., 1997; Kaaya, et. al., 2002). The authors further argue that this is mostly the result of two separate, yet interlinked issues. Firstly, failure to acknowledge and address the socio-cultural context of implementation, which is often unfavourable to programme goals, such as taboos and unequal gender norms, often prevent any considerable impact. Secondly, the interpretation of Sexual Health Education varies considerably depending on the stakeholders involved and the context of the programme (Aggleton, et. al., 1997; Kaaya, et. al., 2002). Three separate approaches to Sexual Health Education have been identified:

i. In many countries, there is a dominance of the morality based approach. This presents a narrow understanding of sexual health, which is often fear-based, and serves to pass on prevailing religious and moral values. As noted by Braeken et al (2008); It seems that health issues such as unwanted pregnancy, STI and HIV are of lesser concern than the importance to uphold the sanctity and values of sexual moralities of communities (Braeken & ardinal, 2008). The authors contend that such approach may preach the immorality of sex out of wedlock, or the evils of homosexuality, but fails to engage with the lived realities of youth (Braeken & ardinal, 2008). The failures of this approach are seen when comparing the high number of STI and unwanted pregnancy cases in the U.S. (where this approach dominates)



with the much lower rates found in the Netherlands, which adopts are more informationbased approach (Weaver, Smith, & Kippax, 2005).

ii. The second, is the health approach. This approach is often promoted as value-free, focusing on the biological aspects of sex and minimizing health problems that can result from unsafe sex, most notably – the spread of HIV (Braeken et. al., 2008, Rogow & Haberland, 2005). They authors are of the view that this approach has led to programmes that promote ABC (abstinence, being faithful, and condom use). However lacking in the approach, is an understanding of the power relations and embedded societal values which may prevent youth acting on the advice given. The authors appreciate that there remains a 'problem preoccupation' leading to a skewed view of sexuality as something that is negative, dangerous and shameful. Hence there are increasing calls by researchers to address the weaknesses of this approaches, and for sexual education to be embedded in the social studies framework using the right-based approach (Braeken et. al., 2008, Rogow & Haberland, 2005). This approach is adequately summed up by the Sexuality Information and Education Council of the United States, (1991, cited in Braeken, 2008, p50)

"Sexuality education is a lifelong process of acquiring information and forming attitudes, beliefs and values about identity, relationships and intimacy. It encompasses sexual development, reproductive health, interpersonal relationships, affection, intimacy, body image and gender roles. Sexuality education addresses the biological, socio cultural, psychological and spiritual dimensions of sexuality from a cognitive affective and behavioural domain including skills to communicate effectively and make responsible decisions".



Sexual health education therefore, does not have only one function, but becomes more holistic. It takes into account both the threats and pleasures of sexuality, as well as the decision making, communication and negotiations, which are a key part of sexual relationships (Aggleton & Cambell, 2000). Avoiding the problems of sexual intercourse is no longer the primary aim. Aggleton & Cambell (2000) are of the view that the goal of the sexual education programmes are rather aimed at to helping individuals to flourish, by focussing on their right to live informed, safe and enjoyable lives, with these rights being framed within the social context and local power dynamics. The authors also argue that there is a focus relationship between the teaching of sex and reproduction and understanding culture and gender issues. It links to the empowerment of individuals, aiding them in developing the skills required to take control of their lives and to critically consider the decisions that they, as well others, make. As such, this type of sexual health education is referred to as CRSE (comprehensive rights-based sex education) or CSE (Comprehensive sexuality Education) (Aggleton & Cambell, 2000).



According to Rijsdijk, Lie, Bos, Leerlooijer, & Kok (2012) the right-based approach emerged on a global scale in 1994, when reproductive health and gender equality were 'specifically placed in a human rights-based framework in the Cairo Programme of Action'. At an international conference on population and development, 179 countries pledged to ensure their citizens had the basic right to decide the number and spacing of their children, the right to the information and services to support them in doing so, and the right to the highest attainable standard of Sexual Reproductive Health (SRH), free from discrimination, coercion and violence (United Nations, 1995). The right to complete and accurate information on Sexual and Reproductive Health

The rights-based approach to the sexual education is gaining prominence on the global stage.

Related (SRHR) issues has since become enshrined in the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC, 1989).

Sex education is described by Billy, Brewster, & Grady (1994) as something, which shapes the knowledge and attitudes that ultimately guide learners' choices about their sexual behaviour. Stack (1994) looking at learners in the context of social learning theory, said the relevance of this theory becomes clear because learners' behaviours are continually changing as they mature, learn and gain experience. Peers can influence definition, reinforcement and modelling of sex education.

Explaining the meaning of sex education, Steinberg (1996) is of the view that sex education aims to reduce risks of potentially negative outcomes from sexual behaviour, equip learners with life skills, and reduce the high levels of drop out and unwanted pregnancies. The author further argues that sex education provides knowledge on how to prevent transmission of diseases such as HIV/AIDS and other health related problems, which. historically has been seen as the responsibility of parents (Steinberg, 1996). However, these days the term commonly refers to classroom lessons about sex education that are taught in schools, with the aim of contributing to young people's positive experiences of their sexuality, by enhancing the quality of their relationships (Steinberg, 1996). This offers sexuality programmes a focus of providing accurate information about human sexuality for young people to develop and understand their values, attitudes and beliefs about their own sexuality. This, according to Forrester (2009) is a means by which young people are helped to protect themselves against abuse, exploitation, unintended pregnancies and sexually transmitted diseases.



According to Kohler, Manhart, & Lafferty (2008), comprehensive sex education programmes teach students about all the different aspects of sex including information on contraceptives, sexually transmitted diseases, and the biology behind hormones and sex organs (Kohler, Manhart, & Lafferty, 2008; Rose, 2006). Abstinence-only does not provide the plethora of information about sex that comprehensive does, but instead simply advocates that students refrain from sex until marriage (Kohler, Manhart, & Lafferty, 2008). Sex education is a very important policy decision in today's complex modern world, as described by Sabia, (2006, p. 5), "Sex education programmes are of interest to policymakers. First, sex education is viewed as an information policy tool to reduce the future costs of teen pregnancies, as well as the costs of sexually transmitted diseases."

The essential primary goal of sex education is promotion of sexual and reproductive health. According to Hine (2000) there is a pressing need to raise the levels of information of the young people who are embarking on sexually active life. He is of the view that research and experience has revealed that sex education has the potential to improve the sexual health of an individual and so, of the community and of the nation. Hine (2000) further argues that sex education is like immunization. It can help to prevent physical, psychological, marital and social problems related to sexuality (Hine, 2000). Halstead & Reiss (2003) describes a sexually informed person as someone with ample information about how to achieve pregnancy and how to prevent it. Secondly, a sexually informed person has certain personal qualities, for example appropriate self-confidence in resisting peer pressure and in saying 'no' to unwanted sexual advances. Thirdly, a sexually informed person has respect for people whose views differ from his or hers, on controversial issues related to abortion, contraception use, same sex relationships, celibacy and divorce (Halstead & Reiss, 2003). These characteristics, according to Halstead & Reiss,



(2003), are underpinned by the liberal values of tolerance, freedom, equality and respect. The fourth is that a sexually informed person has decision-making skills that enables him or her to make the right decisions at the right time. This is because, sexual desire usually focuses on another person's responsible sexual behaviour. Hence, sexual decision-making involves taking into account that person's needs and wishes as well as one's own (Halstead & Reiss, 2003). It also involves evaluating conflicting desires and choosing between them, respecting and being sensitive to the sexual vulnerability of others, reflecting on what we owe to others and what we expect from them. All of these skills are said to have a firm ground on moral value (Halstead & Reiss, 2003).

Sexual relationships among students are on increase and common in schools (Mgalla, Schapink, & Boerma, 1998). The existence of students' sexual activity in schools has elicited public concerns. The outcome of sexual relationships such as school girls' pregnancy and eviction of pregnant girls from schools are particularly prioritized matters of concern, while others include: poor academic performance, sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) including HIV infections, and conflicts between teachers and students (Petro, 2009).



Meanwhile, as shown by the 2000 population and housing census, Ghana is indeed religious. With 69% of the country's population being Christians and 15.6% Muslims, people try to abide by moral doctrines of their respective religions. The church, for example often gives "moral education" and not sex education and to Muslim parents, sex is a taboo subject (Athar, 1996). Sex education to children is thus associated with encouraging immorality; in fact, the religious view has been that it could make adolescents who are not active in sexual activities to start sexual experimentation (Ankomah, 2001). However, Ankomah (2001) argues that this religious view

is not supported by empirical evidence. The evidence is that children who are not introduced to sex education are more likely to experience teenage pregnancy (Ankomah, 2001). In fact, "educational authorities that didn't provide sex education, such as New York, had the highest rates of teen pregnancy" (Briggs, 1991, p. 2). Sexuality, rather than morality, has become the custom and young people are not excluded from this exposure (Klemp, Moore, & Mary, 2003).

In 2010, for example, statistics from the Ministry of Education and Vocational Training (MoEVT) shows that the total number of students dropped out of school due to pregnancy related reasons were 6345 (MoEVT, 2010). Previously, as it was reported in the Daily Graphic Newspaper (Wednesday, 21st April, 2010), statistics indicated that a total of 28,600 girls could not complete their education due to pregnancy within a period of five years, 2004 - 2008. This is a critical issue, which needs to be addressed as a matter of exigency.

Studies by Hellar, (2001) and Mori (2004) show that a large percentage of adolescents are sexually active but lack basic knowledge of the biological functioning of their bodies and the risks involved in becoming sexually active at early ages. Often, this ignorance has made adolescents vulnerable to unplanned pregnancies, hazardous abortions, as well as STDs, including HIV/AIDS (REPRO/GTZ. , 2000).



2.3.4 Importance of Sexual Education

Studies conducted by Du Toit & Van Staden (2005), Bezuidenhout (2004) and Alter (2002) suggest that sex education helps young people to gain a positive understanding about their sexuality. It provides them with knowledge and skills about how to take care of their sexual health, and make informed decisions both in the present and the future. The aim of this kind of

education is to enable individuals gain accurate information about their sexuality, and enhance the understanding of young people about their values, attitudes, and beliefs systems about sexuality. Education also develops in young people, the skills to relate and exercise responsible judgement with the opposite sex with regards to sexual relationships. This might include addressing, sexual abstinence, management of pressures to engage in prematurely sex, as well as the proper use of contraception (Bezuidenhout, 2004).

Similarly, Nichcy (2005) is of the view that sex education enables young people to interrogate and evaluate attitudes, values, and perceptions about the human sexuality. Sex education also helps young people to appreciate the religious, and cultural norms, that could help them to develop and shape their own value system and boost their self-esteem. This helps them build better relationships with other people, especially of the opposite sex, and an understanding of their personal responsibilities to other people (Nichcy, 2005). Through sex education, young people are able to nurture skills such as decision-making, confidence, peer refusal skills, and the ability to create healthy relationships with the opposite sex. In other words, sex education enables young people to form their view of responsibility and exercise it in their sexual relationships with others (Barnett, 1997)



Despite the positive effects sex education has on young people, many families are still unable to educate their young people on sexuality issues. According to Alter (2002), in most societies, parents do not find it easy educating children about sex. Most parents feel it is awkward talking with children about their sexuality, others are reluctant because they do not want to expose their own lack of knowledge about the subject (Alter, 2002). Some parents are often worried about how much information to give to their children and at what age should they give children such

information, because they belief that giving such information might lead children to experiment with such information. Similarly, Kirb, Lepore, & Ryan (2005) observed that many adults have never had the opportunity of education about their sexuality and so fear to expose their own ineptitude and negative sexual experiences in their youthful days to their children (Kirb, Lepore, & Ryan, 2005). In view of this accession, adult family members tend to shy away from actively educating youth about issues relating to sexuality.

According to Moore, Raymond, Mittelstaedt, & Tanner (2002), young people tend to acquire wrong knowledge about their sexuality when they do not get opportunity for appropriate sex education. The authors maintain that sexual education through channels such as schools, mass media, churches and peers, fill the information gap on sexual knowledge. He further argues that sex education received in schools, only complements the knowledge about sex children are thought by their families, religious leaders, health officials and community elders (Moore, et. al., 2002). Basically, the main objective of school- based sexuality education is to support young people to develop a solid grounds as they transition from childhood to adulthood. These educational programmes respect diversity of cultural norms and values in different communities (Moore, et. al., 2002).



2.3.5 Capacity of teachers in teaching sex education

Considering the central role of the teacher in the school setting, the success of every schoolbased programme, such as sex education will depend on how well placed the teacher is to support it. This therefore means that, it may be over simplistic to view the teacher as an insignificant information disseminator. It could rather be argued that the teachers is a core strategic agent within certain social context, towards the success of any school-based programme. As discussed

earlier, schools for instance, have proven to be the practical starting point for the understanding of gender roles and basic social norms. Studies conducted by Smith & Harrison (2013) and Mirembe & Davis (2001) in some selected secondary schools in South Africa and Uganda, discovered that male and female teachers continuously demonstrated difference in their gender norms, both in their relationship with one another and also with their students. Several studies conducted on the subject also revealed unequal power relations being exploited by male teachers to sexually harass girls within the school environment, (Bhana, 2012; Plummer, et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2013). However, this, according to Plummer et al (2006), also includes teachers of the sexual health programmes in those schools.

Also, the broader environmental factor such as the community setting, has a considerable effect on the ability of teachers' to teach sex education in schools. Predominant norms that run counter to sex education programmes may prevent or direct how sex education should be thought. This often breeds an attitude of reluctance in the teachers thereby defeating the purpose of such programmes (Francis, 2010; Mkumbo, 2012; Pokharel, et a., 2006; Smith, et al., 2013). Although a study by Francis (2010) sought to endorse the role of the training teachers receive in reducing some of these broader community challenges, some studies are also of the view that these issues still persist despite the trainings teachers receive, arguing that the challenge is not within the control of the teacher. Indeed, a study conducted by Plummer et al (2006) revealed that teachers are worried about parental opposition to sexual health education in schools. Teachers are of the believed that most parents associated media promotion of contraceptive use with sex education, and would often pull their children out of such programmes as a result of such perceptions. Eventually, this has led to the redesigning of the curriculum to reduce the amount of time discussing contraceptive use. With the teacher reducing the amount of time they spent discussing



contraceptives, it is reported that only in a small number of cases did parents pull their child from the programme (Plummer, et al., 2006). It is however not clear whether these threats were perceived or real as they reflect the rigid framework in which the programme was being implemented even though, teachers did not abandon their teaching.

Moreover, as this study sought to find out teacher-ability in the teaching of sexual education to students, what is most important is the manner in which the teacher places his students and how methodologies of teaching are affected. Wight (1999) is of the view that, chilhood concepts in the western communities for the past 200 years have experienced a reasonable change from the old traditional point of view, to a more protective one and still maintainting that children have fundermental legal rights. Currently researchers are preaching the education approach indicating that children are "skilled social actors in their own right, generating their own understanding of the world" (Wight, 1999, p. 235). It is in this view that teachers are entreated to expose students to the appropriate skills, knowledge and attitudes which will go a long way to help them establish their own opinions on issues and making the right decisions and choices. (Wight, 1999)



In sub-Saharan Africa However, levels of appreciation are still in the low with respect to the youth and their sexuality. The challenge is not recognizing that the youth also experience sexual desire and pleasure (Braeken & Cardinal, 2008). Rather, youths are perceived as inexperienced and clueless about issues of sexuality who need protection instead of information. Braeken & Cardinal (2008), are of the view that such arguments leads to misconceptions that they will be spoiled by sexual education instead of informed, and therefore would only concentrate on programmes that highlight on the consequences of early sex (Braeken & Cardinal, 2008). Yet, as noted by Francis (2010), "Youth cannot act in empowered ways without being treated as

agents" (Francis, 2010, pp. 314-319). Hence, the level of appreciation of teachers on the consequences of ignorance on sexuality by students, will influence the content and teaching methodologies to use in teaching the subject. The lack of knowledge might not be same for all pupils but beliefs, traditions and gender roles of teachers determines how their students are taught. A study by Mirembe & Davis (2001) revealed that girls were described by teachers as either victims or as 'fallen' and therefore as 'temptresses'. Whichever way, their sexuality was only defined with reference to boys. This view is supported by Smith and Harrison (2013), who indicated that Teachers' attitudes towards (youth) sexuality tend to be judgmental, especially for girls. In a similar view, Patman & Chege cited in Francis, (2010) noted that in the Sub-Saharan African (SSA) context, girls tend to remain quiet in sexual health lessons. This often results in an environment where female students are not encouraged to participate, thus reproducing norms of girls as submissive and their male peers as dominant (Patman & Chege cited in Francis, 2010).

based sexual health education programme, neither do they operate within a selective social context alone. Teachers form part of the wider variety of stakeholders within the community who are expected to work effectively together to teach even those sexual health topics seen as taboo by society. However, Tabulawa (2004) noted that in both research and policy, the teacher has often been singled out to the exclusion of other participants' (Tabulawa, 2004). Arguably, research has tends to either view the other actors as passive (Tabulawa 2004, Wight, 1999), or as the answer to effective programmes, through student-driven curricular (Rogow & Haberland, 2005). It is also a valid argument that the student is located between two extremes of the major stakeholders in any sexual health education programme. Even though students play a key role in negotiating and adapting programmes, relying on student-driven curricula to address youth's

Indeed, as noted earlier, Teachers are not the only players in the implementation of a school-

'real needs' is problematic. This is because, as Wight (1999) points out, the way in which students perceive their needs is shaped by past education, past experience, and beliefs about what is and what is not appropriate in a given socio-cultural setting. Unlike teachers, students need to be considered within this framework. Wight (1999) further contend that traditional messages from influential actors such as parents and religious leaders may lead students to be embarrassed and reluctant to discuss certain sexual topics, or not even to consider that they might be discussed (Wight, 1999).

Also, the needs of one student may differ quiet considerably from the needs of others. Unsurprisingly therefore, studies have revealed that the reasons why young people engage in sex and being in relationships with the opposite sex, differ for the male and the female adolescents (Mirembe et al 2001, Rijsdijk 2012). For instance, whilst boys are often more likely to mention the urge for sexual gratification as the reason for getting into relationship with the opposite sex, girls cite material or financial inducement by their male colleagues as the reasons. Additionally, due to structural and agentic factors, the nature of how these needs are expressed sometimes vary (Mirembe et al 2001, Rijsdijk 2012).



As it was established earlier, girls in Sub-Saharan African (SSA) classrooms tend to participate much less in sexual health lessons than their male counterparts, which perhaps is not surprising, bearing in mind the male-controlled nature of their society and how this has shaped their beliefs and behaviours about gender and sex, which usually results in judgmental views about girls (Smith & Harrison, 2013). However, studies by Bell (2005) and Bhana (2012), cautions against interpreting agency in dualistic terms such as, present or absent, dominant and the submissive, powerful and the powerless, because many studies have shown girls to express agency in

numerous, yet often subtle ways, the nature of which is often dependent on internal as well as external factors. (Bell 2005, Bhana 2012).

Based on the position of Bell (2005) and Bhana (2012), agency is best described as a continuum, thus 'moving on a sliding scale from thick to thin'. This is because the gender norms in Sub Saharan Africa makes it difficult for girls to express themselves about their sexuality. A female student may feel humiliated sharing what she knows about sexual experiences during a sexual health class. However, when her peers in the class, who from homes sexual health and reproductive issues are freely discussed by their parents and siblings begin sharing their knowledge about sexuality and their own sexual experiences, such girls learn build some build relative confidence about sexuality issues from their peers in the classroom, thus moving from 'thin' to 'thick' on the continuum. It is therefore, important to acknowledge the significance of the organisational context these actions take place and acknowledge their ability to negotiate this in different ways.



In recent times, the rapid changes occurring in the world, with the upsurge of technology, urbanisation and migration, have changed the way knowledge about sexuality is affecting adolescent boys and girls. This has also been compounded by the increased penetration and expansion of telecommunications across the globe, which has undoubtedly made carrying ideas about sex with unprecedented speed quality and quantity, have had profoundly negative impacts on young people (Shuby, 2004).

It is a fact that the way Teachers' appreciate sexuality in terms of their beliefs and knowledge, is way they teach it to their students. According to Borko and Putnam (1995) knowledge guides

all decisions in academic practice, hence teachers must be helped to increase and expand their knowledge in order to aid them effectively match up with the changing trends in acquisition in the 21st century (Borko and Putnam, 1995). People appreciate sex education differently, depending on many factors such as prevailing knowledge, cultural setup and family socialization around which learners are nurtured and developed (Gallagher & Gallagher, 1996). How teachers teach sex education, also depend on the overall attitude of teachers in the profession, whose understanding of about teaching should be to make children have confidence that teachers are their second point of contact aside parents and play a vital part in the education of the learner (Nokwe, 1991). This is why teacher' attitude on the topic of sex education is very important. In the view of Baron & Byrne (1994), our cultural hesitant attitude about sexuality issues is very much evident in the limitations placed on sex education in primary and secondary schools and often in its total absence from the curriculum (Baron & Byrne, 1994).

5

are perceived as matters of extreme privacy, which should only be discussed among adults within the society and especially within the family (Shemdoe, 2005). Most teachers who took special interest to handle sex and sexuality matters in schools emphasised on what Kelly, (2004) describes as the risks that are related to students' sexual activity like unplanned pregnancies, STD's including HIV infections, which leads to AIDS, and poor academic performance. The prevalence of HIV/AIDS in most Developing countries has an implication on the quality of teaching and learning in schools. It adds up to high attrition rate among teachers and their shortage due to death. In Ghana, it is estimated that about 3.5 percent of the adult population is infected with HIV/AIDS. In 2000 alone, about 20,000 children were infected (National Aids/STI

Sex and sexuality issues is generally regarded a taboo in most parts of Sub-Saharan Africa. They

Control Programme, Ministry of Health, 2001 cited in Ankomah, Koomson, Bosu, & Oduro, 2005).

They added that, teachers failed to go deeper to finding out why students plan to engage in and practise sexual activity. Given that, most students miss parental and teachers' guidance, they may face challenges in making sexual decisions due to ignorance, and this may lead to misunderstandings and conflicts between adolescents and adults on sexual matters.

According to Macleod, (1999) some people in the rural setting, still think that sex education is equivalent to a social taboo that might lead to social snobbery on the part of those teachers who resort to it (Macleod, 1999). As a result, teachers and parents do not allow for open and frank discussion about sex education, so the learners resort to advice and guidance from their peers and older siblings (Ndlangisa, 1999 and Trudell, 1993). For example, teachers interviewed in Guinea and Mexico had no adequate knowledge of the school's role in pupil failure and dropout. Instead, they tend to blame the pupils and their family environment (Carron & Chau, 1996). The above confirms that, children and teenagers are not exposed to sex education early enough to prevent them from suffering the consequence of early sex and unprotected intercourse.



According to Ndlangisa, (1999) teachers cannot teach or advise children on sexuality issues because they themselves were not exposed to sex education at their homes and their training did not also include the subject. Trudell, (1993) supports this view by stating that teachers cannot actually guide or teach the subject if they are not allowed to discuss open-ended questions with their students but are compelled to follow write-ups given them. This lack of trust and confidence in teachers' knowledge or discretion tend to prevent many young learners from

approaching their teachers for information or advice about their sexuality, hence resorting to their peers. (Moore & Rosenthal, 1993).

Moore & Rosenthal, (1993) described this as a case of the blind leading the blind where friends and peers play vital roles in each other's sex education with incomplete and totally wrong information. Moore & Rosenthal, 1993). It is therefore appropriate and important to teach adolescents about healthy and positive sexual situations as well as life skills. However, concerns are often raised on what, when and how the message of sex education should be introduced to adolescents. What is important here is taking into consideration the attitudes of teachers, parents and learners as well before making efforts to teaching the subject. If a positive attitude is developed, all the parties involved will feel comfortable when issues of sexuality are taught or discussed without any hindrance.

2.3.6 Teacher Training on Sex Education



Capacity building on sexuality education for teacher, often focuses on preparing them with adequate knowledge, skills and the right disposition to enable them construct a more learner friendly environment void of fear or intimidation for pupils' to learn about their sexuality and the challenges associated. According to Shuby (2004), changes in the world today associated with rapid urbanisation and the movement of human beings, have affected the way information about sexuality is taught to young people. The author is of the view that, the expansion of technology across the globe, which has enabled the unprecedented speed of information sharing, including the transmission of sexual materials, have had extremely negative impacts on young people (Shuby, 2004). It is the view of many researchers that content for professional development of teachers should focus on connecting content-related activities with students'

learning ability of such content (Desimone et al., 2002; Desimone L. M., 2009; Garet, et al., 1999). This view is supported by Guskey (2003), who suggests that content is crucial to the provision of effective professional development for sex educators (Guskey, 2003)

It is also the view of Hirsh, (2007) that professional development of sex educators need to emphasize more on content-related strategies that teachers need to use to develop and improve students learning outcomes (Hirsh, 2007; Sparks D., 2001). Effective engagement with pupils gives teachers the opportunity to closely monitor and interact with pupils during the learning process (Desimone, 2009). This method of instructions produces better learning outcomes and greater chances of retention of the knowledge acquired (Bonwell & Eison, 1991). The strategy of active learning which enables teachers to acquire techniques for helping pupils from their close interactions with them, is most profound and also supports the view that it should be focused on content (Desimone et al., 2002; Gibson & Brooks, 2002). The authors further argue that, when the content of teachers learning is consistent with their personal goals and also in sync with policy, professional development is best described as coherent (Desimone et al., 2002; Desimone, 2009; Garet et al., 2001). Also, Desimone et al., (2002) is of the view that professional development becomes meaningful to teachers and sex educators, when there is coherence and consistency between learning and beliefs. This gives teachers the satisfaction that they are providing knowledge that is relevant to what the pupils are learning. Unfortunately, education on sex is rather slow in reaching teenagers early enough to prevent the negative consequence of their ignorance (Desimone et al., 2002). However, Ndlangisa (1999) maintains that the best sex education is given in the home, where there is love and respect.



2.3.7 Sexuality-Related Problems

Ignorance of sexuality among young people often leads them into troubles, especially when the challenges they face are not handled properly. In the view of Uwibambe (2004), most teenagers who have sex in Rwanda rarely use contraceptives. Such ignorance only leads them to unplanned pregnancies and other sexual related challenges. According the author, at least 10% of single teenagers of 18 years in sub-Saharan African countries get pregnant unwillingly due to lack of information about their sexuality. Uwibambe (2004) further argues further that unmarried mothers sometimes encounter many more difficulties than married mothers, because they receive less support from their families and communities, and most often have little resources to take care of their children's education (Uwibambe, 2004).

Sexual issues are least spoken about by family members in almost all societies in the world. Young people who experience hormonal changes during their transition into adulthood, often shy away from discussing their experiences with their parents and guardians (Bezuidenhout, 2004). The same author is further of the view that teenagers find it easier and comfortable seeking information about their sexuality from their peers or from books, magazines, articles and videos on the internet. Information often obtained from these sources are inaccurate and only exposes them to more danger. (Bezuidenhout, 2004) The author also argues that the issues of unplanned pregnancies have been a social problem among young girls for a long time in many societies of the world, including Rwanda due to lack of accurate information. In pre-colonial times, girls in Rwanda who engaged in premarital sex and got pregnant were ostracized and taken to an Island located in the Kivu Lake, which separates Rwanda and the Republic Democratic of Congo. Mukasekuru (2001) most of those girls died due to harsh weather conditions and lack of food and medicine. The lucky ones got chanced by men from the



Democratic Republic of Congo who marry them and take them to stay with them. (Mukasekuru., 2001). Similarly, Bezuidenhout (2004) also observed that pre-marital unplanned pregnancies generates persistent problems often between parents and their female children who fall victim to such. Such action create problems not only for the teenage girls themselves but also for their unplanned children, who become a burden to them. Their action often further cause them to suffer other social prejudice, psychological trauma, depression (Bezuidenhout, 2004).

Children born to unmarried parents are usually deprived of good conditions for proper upbringing. Access to proper health, food, and education are often a major challenge for them and so depriving the children of a healthy childhood experience, which eventually affects their adult life (Bezuidenhout, 2004). According to FHI/IMPACT (2000) families in Rwanda and Nigeria traditionally have developed a strong prejudice against children born out of pre-marital relationships. The organisation is of the view that several factors put young girls in risky situations, thereby exposing them to unintended pregnancies. Most of the young girls are forced to give in to sexual advances by unscrupulous men due to poverty. Others are also persuaded by their friends, and even their parents or guardians to accept sexual advances in order to gain good grades from their teachers at school or for some social recognition. Unfortunately, a lot of them eventually give up their education and inter into full time prostitution in order to take care of their economic and social needs (FHI/IMPACT, 2000).

Despite the availability of knowledge and information on sexuality in the 21st century, many young girls still fall prey to deceit by young men who claim that sexual intercourse heals young women's pimples and abdominal pains during their monthly menstrual periods, thereby suggesting that young women should experiment sex, leading to sexual problems such as an



unwanted pregnancy, STDs and HIV/AIDS. Most of these young girls usually resort more painful ways of abortion from unqualified practioners when they get pregnant or better still some would abandon or throw newborn babies into toilets. (Uwibambe, 2004; Mash & Kareithi, 2005). The latter, revealed in his study conducted in America that ,abortion became the best option .to half of the female teens who became pregnant. This however included teens from various denominational traditions where matters such as abortion is highly prohibited. In many instances, the teens mentioned that the possible condemnation from their families and congregations if they became mothers out of wedlock and stigma they would face for being pregnant in church influenced their decisions (Mash & Kareithi, 2005).

Complications from illegal abortion are the main causes of young girls' losing their lives in many societies in Rwanda where abortion is illegal or severely restricted. Some of the explanations given by these young girls who opt for abortion are that, they were not prepared emotionally and physically to have or nature children at their age especially that they got pregnant against their will coupled with the fear of community sanctions and the stigma that comes with premarital childbearing. Uwiragiye. (2005) added that, young girls did not want to have children out of wedlock and also scared of being sent out of school for being pregnant (Uwiragiye, 2005). As the same author argues, tackling these challenges requires creating a more conducive and open environment making room for adolescents in and out of school the opportunities to assess information on how to protect themselves to prevent pregnancies and also offer guidance and counselling on sexual relationships. By considering the above it will be possible to reach young people early enough with the right information and services.



2.3.8 Sources of sexual information

i. "Parent-to- child sexual education"

According to Du Toit &Van Staden (2005) one of the family's responsibility is to transmit its norms and cultural values from generation to generation and it is within the family setting that children begin to develop sexually and socialize appropriately (Du Toit & Van Staden, 2005). The argument here is that young people are less likely to engage in sexual activities in their earlier age when they experience considerable parental support and feel attached to their parents. Their desire for sex would be suppressed and controlled by. Parents who are able to bond well with their children and supervise their growth and development appropriately, such children in their teens, have fewer sexual partners (Du Toit &Van Staden, 2005).

The closeness and involvement of parents in their children's lives critically affects the extent to which children engage in sexual activity. According to Blake, Simkin, Ledskly, Perkins, & M.C., (2001), children whose parents talk with them about sexual matters or provide sexual education or contraceptive information at home are more likely than others to postpone sexual activity and when these adolescents become sexually active, they have fewer sexual partners and are more likely to use contraceptives and condoms than young people who do not discuss sexual matters with their parents, and therefore are at reduced risk for pregnancy, HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases (Blake, et. al., 2001).

Parental interaction with children is an essential parental skill. When parents interact often with their children, they expose them to myths, beliefs and values about sex. The children get to learn about contraceptives and of the circumstances these interactions happen, they get to understand and appreciate the risks about sex. When parents discuss with their children more about sex and

contraception they become sexually active, such conversations often delays the children's desire to initiate sex or increase the use of contraceptives (Rabenoro, 2004). However, the discussion of sexuality issues with young people is still a taboo in some African societies such as Nyanza Province in Kenya. The subject is simply considered as for adults only. Natives are of the view that discussing sexuality with children will rather encourage them to be sexually active. A study conducted by FHI/IMPACT (2000) found that adolescents in Nyanza Province often do not look to their parents and teachers as a source of accurate information on their sexuality; they would rather prefer to talk to their friends even though they acknowledged that their parents are more experienced (FHI/IMPACT, 2000).

FHI/IMPACT (2000) further revealed that the people of Nyanza Province mainly attribute causes of AIDS, which often leads to death, to discussions of sexuality issues among young people. This perception is wide spread in most communities in Kenya, hence people often avoid talking openly about sex. What is even interesting is that in situations where sexual health and reproductive health and rights are recognized as helpful, people still abhor the open discussion about sex and sexuality. In view of that people simply avoid providing young people information about sex and sexuality matters. The same study also revealed that the Luo people in Nyanza Province culturally do not have the right words for describing the male and female sexual organs and about sexuality in general, hence they avoid misleading young people with wrong information. The study acknowledges that this can impede frank and open dialogue on sexual matters including HIV/AIDS. It is therefore appropriate to adopt participatory approaches in discussing culturally sensitive subjects such as sex and sexuality issues in Nyanza Province. (FHI/IMPACT, 2000).



FHI/IMPACT (2000) further revealed that most parents feel uncomfortable using the correct terms for describing the male and female sex organs. For instance, in some communities in Zimbabwe, the "penis" is referred to as "akanyoni" (meaning small bird). Also, in some cultures in Zimbabwe, sex education is given by uncles or aunties, not the parents. This is strategic, in view of the challenges the extended family faces in recent times in trying to live together, the traditional approach of living the burden of sex education on parents alone becomes even most difficult. However, involvement of parents becomes strategic and even critical in building a robust and inclusive environment for adolescent sexual and reproductive health programmes. A study conducted by Rob (2003) in Bangladesh revealed that only 28 % of parents discuss reproductive and sexual health issues with their children. Over 65 % of parents expressed their lack of knowledge about such issues and wanted to know more about the subject. A large majority (90 %) of parents are supportive of providing reproductive health information to adolescents (Rob, 2003).

5

Similarly, Singh (2001) confirmed that parents who bond well with their children, encouraging open discussions on sexual issues with love and care, will have their children grow to develop a more empowered and positive attitude towards sexual matters. Also, if parents nurture and care for each other at home, their children are more likely to give and achieve similar warmth and stability in their own relationships. Additionally, the tensions, emotions and interactions that exist between parents, siblings, and between parents and siblings all contribute to shape the family well.

Further, (Singh, 2001) asserts that, when it becomes necessary to discuss sexual issues between parents and children, the significant discussion occurs in mother-daughter relationship and fathers seem to ignore their role in children's sexual education. The study also revealed parents'

tendency to disregard their sons' sexual education. Thus, the same author suggests that open and frank communication between parents and children through childhood, the pre-teen years, adolescence, and young adulthood can help build a strong foundation for young people to mature into sexually healthy adults.

ii. Sexual information between peers

Like the family, the peer group is an important socialization agent. Lefkowitz, Boone, & Shearer, (2003) observed that during the period that approximately spans between ages 18-24, relationship with peers and close friends may be particularly important, salient and influential because young people spend more time together, engage in same social activities with their peers and friends than with parents or adults and this gives them enough room to have personal interactions than during other developmental stages. In a similar vein, Newcomb (1996) asserted that adolescents in schools or colleges in USA are in close physical proximity to one another. Proximity encourages therefore interaction and, in turn, allows for identification of similarities in attitudes and behaviour. Furthermore, the same author revealed that adolescents talk more openly about their sexual attitudes and behaviour and there is a strong positive relationship between them discussing sexual topics comfortably.



According to Lefkowitz, et al (2003), the influence of peers on their colleagues in residential schools, is stronger enough to overpower parental influence on young adults. This is because they spend much more physical time with their friends and peers than with their parents (Lefkowitz, et al., 2003). The author added that young people often report more self-disclosure to their friends than to their parents, including more disclosure about sex-related topics mostly from the beginning of seventh grade and continuing through young adulthood. The author is

further of the view that college students prefer their friends as the most reliable source of information regarding sexual related topics. Young people feel more comfortable and confident talking to their colleagues about sexual issues and they find information from their peers more credible than the information from their parents.

In the view of Bezuidenhout (2004), young people who are exposed to discussing issues about their sexuality more frequently, are less embarrassed talking about subject in the open. The possibility often is that, young people who are given the chance to participate and experience discussions about sex-related topics with best friends mostly become more comfortable initiating and leading discussions on sexual issues with their partners. Their experiences in discussing these topics with their peers does have implications for their future marital relationships, since communication about sex in marriage is most vital to the success or failure of every marriage (Bezuidenhout, 2004). Hershel. et al, (1998), a study conducted to evaluate peer education programmes revealed that peer educators significantly increase knowledge, self-efficacy, use of contraceptives, and willingness to purchase contraceptives among the target population (Hershel. et al, 1998).



However, Babalola (2004) is of a contrary view that sexuality information from peer sources may also create a conducive environment in which peer pressure is wielded on young people to engage in early sex because "everyone does it" or for their desire to belong and not "feel out of the group." The information young people give to each other about sex, are ostensibly experiences from their own sexual encounters (Babalola, 2004). This view is accentuated by Macleod (1999) cited by Bezuidenhout (2004) that peer pressure among young people sometimes includes isolating sexually inexperienced teenagers whenever they are discussing
sexual matters. According to Lefkowitz et al., (2003), researchers have found that topics including sexual intercourse and reproductive health are the topics often discussed among young people (Lefkowitz et al., 2003).

iii. Church-based sexual education

Deane (1999), is of the view that religion is such a significant factor in distinguishing sexually active teenagers from those who delay sex till adulthood. Teenagers who are not active in religious activities are most likely to engage in early sexual intercourse than teenagers who are active in religious activities. The author argues that the more religious an individual is, the more important opinions of parents and religious leaders are to him/her. Hence such people are more likely to obey morality admonitions in relation to their sexual engagements (Deane, 1999). In the same vain, a study conducted by Powell and Jorgensen (1985) in Iowa State University, argue that a church-based sexual education programme offers the advantages of providing more comprehensive sex education than when it is delivered in school, because the church has already established standards for examining personal responsibility and controversial issues (Powell and Jorgensen, 1985).



Interestingly, religiously active teenagers are less open and comfortable talking about sexual issues with their friends as compared to their non-religious colleagues. They are more conservative in their attitudes and behaviour about sexuality and tend to talk more about issues of abstinence, which often appears to generalize to their conversations with friends (Lefkowitz et al., 2003). It is worthy of note that church' teachings do not always lead to change in the mind set of young people about sex. A study by Mash & Kareithi (2005) on sexuality awareness among the youth of the Anglican church in Cape Town Diocese, noted that some of the reasons why

Church teachings do not necessary lead to change in sexual behaviour were: 1. the methods of communication are 'top to bottom', from the older members of the church to the youth; 2. communication around sex is generally correctional or reactive and negative in approach ('No sex before marriage', 'Don't do it',...); 3. the goal appears to be marriage, while, as some respondents revealed, they did not aspire to marry. 4. The desire to satisfy material needs which seem to have more priority than abstaining; 5. peer pressure; and 6. parents' sexual behaviour which encourages children to engage in sexual encounters (Mash & Kareithi, 2005).

Arguably, this situation is not common to only church based sexual education alone, but to other sources of sexual education too. This fact is highlighted by Deane (1999), who contend that while teenagers' knowledge about the consequences of sexual intercourse may be high, it seems that few perceive themselves to be at risk of pregnancy or contracting STIs. The way individuals appreciate these risk and respond in behaviour is important (Deane, 1999). The author further added that a common characteristics of adolescence is to protest against socially-sanctioned rational things, and sometimes undertake risk-taking adventurous behaviour for the fun of it (Deane, 1999). In line with this view, Mbananga (2002) also suggests that human behaviour is not fully certain and therefore cannot be analyzed predictably. Behaviour change may not necessarily occur because there has been transfer of knowledge about sexuality. Other factors may intervene to cause a negative correlation between the desired intentions and subsequent actions of a person, which may not be the intended results of the information supply (Mbananga, 2002).



65

iv. School's intervention in sexual education

The school environment plays a critical role in the education of young people on sexuality and reproductive health (Rosen *et al*, 2004), important information on the health and relationships with others are well and best acquired from school. Also, the educational system in every society in the world serve as a powerful socialization force for young people in that it caters for their total growth and development instilling in them positive attitudes that leads to higher achievements in life (Rosen, et al., 2004). The same authors highlight that in Nigeria, schools reinforce gender roles in its teaching programme while teachers are important role models and their own behaviour can influence the students' development. Schools may have creative means for presenting these messages to adolescents; for example, through the use of sexist textbooks and gender-specific curricula and activities (Rosen, et al., 2004).

Traditionally, according to Pascarella & Terenzini (1991) the core mandate of schools is to inculcate knowledge, positive norms, values and behavioral attitudes that will enable students excel in both academic and social systems (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991). It is the responsibility of the school and such other institutions, to equip the youth with the needed skills, desired attitudes, and knowledge required for responsible adulthood and success in society (Mascarenhas & Higby, 1993; Parsons, 2003). In the view of Mash & Kareithi, (2005) teachers in the schools' influence adolescents' social, emotional and behavioral development through the school system and instructional processes (Mash & Kareithi, 2005). This view is corroborated by FHI/IMPACT (2000) who revealed that in Nigeria, the school system has the greatest impact on the understanding of the youth on sexuality. This study further showed that adolescents from schools that were part of the intervention reported greater use of protective methods against pregnancy



and STIs such as the use of condom, staying with one partner and abstaining. This was not the same with their counterparts from schools that were not part of the intervention.

Further in support of the above accession, Magnani, et al., (2000) argues that the teaching of sexual education in some schools in Nigeria have contributed to a significant positive improvement in the knowledge and attitudes of students. Young people who received tuition on sex from their schools, have a greater and accurate knowledge on the subject than those who seek for the same information from other sources such as their peers. Additionally, sexual health education thought in school is the most effective way of helping young people to improve on their understanding of reproductive health issues. There is often emphasis on a range of reproductive health issues such as: AIDS and STDs, contraceptive use, especially use of condoms among youth who are sexually active for both pregnancy prevention and prevention of HIV/AIDS and other STIs. They are also thought about the human reproductive system, pregnancy and menstruation (Magnani, et al., 2000).



Oshi, Nakalema, & Oshi, (2004) is of the view that even though societies recognize the reproductive health threats facing young people especially STD infections and unwanted pregnancy and appreciate that the schools are the appropriate avenue for addressing such threats. Schools are, however, concerned with upholding traditions and beliefs, including the expectation that young people abstain from sexual activity until marriage.

v. The role of media in youth's sexual education

Parents, peers, friends, schools and church's teachings to children about sexual issues are not the only media through which they acquire information on sex and the influence of the other media

on children cannot be over emphasized. (Bezuidenhout, 2004; Deane, 1999; Lefkowitz, et al., 2003). Same authors added that, young people have access to sexual information these days than years gone by and they are more exposed to sexually arousing materials from radio, television, newspapers, books, magazines and also in films or music. Media research by Siegel, Coffey & Livingston (2001) suggests that media exposure among young people of today has reached an all-time high (Siegel, Coffey, & Livingston, 2001). The authors added that, the print and non-print media were the lead driving force that enjoyed the most patronage in consumer socialization. Mass media, particularly television, is said to be a key socialization force in shaping the behavior of children and adolescents during their development. According to a study undertaken by Maswanya, et al., (2000) on the understanding and attitude of female college students in Nagasaki, Japan towards HIV/AIDS, revealed that their main source of obtaining information on HIV/AIDS was the media (Maswanya, et al., 2000).

Similarly, a study conducted by Temin, et al., (1999) on the perceptions of adolescents on their sexual behaviour and knowledge about STDs, observed that newspapers, magazines and posters were the most common sources of information on STDs for young people, this was closely followed by radio, television and film. Indeed, Brown, et al., (2001) also confirmed that the mass media is the main source of information on sexual health and HIV/AIDS for most young people. Another study on adolescent sexual and reproductive health conducted in Uganda by Ampaire & Korukiko (1999), revealed that 35% of the youth listed radio as the most frequent source of information, 13% listed newspapers and 12% mentioned medical facilities (Ampaire & Korukiko, 1999).



Further studies by O'Guinn & Shrum (1997), revealed that the influence of television on young people surpassed the mainstream socialization agents such as parental guidance, schools, and religious groups. Television is able to reach millions of people all over the world in few seconds as compared to the traditional system of orientation. Du Toit and Van Staden (2005) observed that most of the research done in the USA indicates that the child between the ages of 6 and 18 spends just as much or a little time watching television as he does attending school. The authors estimated that in the USA, the child will have spent 20 000 hours watching television by the time s/he reaches the age of 18 (Du Toit and Van Staden, 2005).

Although most studies have established that the mass media is the most popular source of sex information for young people, the media should not be taken only as a positive socialization agent. Sometimes the content of the information they spread may not be wholesome enough or young people, or may be presented outside of the context of the prescribed sexual norms of their society. This sometimes could lead to negative influences on teenagers who internalize some of these anti-social sexual behaviour and try to experiment with illegitimate sexual activities, resulting in unwanted pregnancies and other unpleasant possible outcomes. This power of the media, coupled with negative influences by peers often push teenagers into indulging in premarital sexual activities (Bezuidenhout, 2004). Also in their study, Du Toit and Van Staden (2005) highlight that television as a socialization agent may impact negatively on people in general and children in particular. They emphasized that viewers are often bombarded with negative content such as violence, murder, manslaughter, drug abuse, sexual intercourse, racial conflict (Du Toit and Van Staden, 2005).



The same authors observed in their study that in one day 1800 cases of violence appear on television programmes in Washington, DC alone. They estimated that the average American primary school child would have been exposed to 8000 murders and more than 100 000 acts of violence on television by the time he completes primary school. Other studies carried out in Poland, Finland, USA and Australia also have shown that children who are subjected to television programmes with a high violence content show more aggressive tendencies and also spend more time watching programmes in which violence is the main theme (Du Toit & Van Staden, 2005). The same author argued that this negative impact of television on children has far reaching consequences on their sexual attitudes and behaviour. The content some of the TV programmes are evidenced to have influenced young people in America to engage in early sexual intercourse because of what they have seen on the pornographic programme on TV and others have done masturbation because of that (Du Toit & Van Staden, 2005).

Furthermore, the influence of new media which is transmitted via the internet, even though has been observed to be accessible to only young people within urban centres where there is electricity and the infrastructure, and who can afford the services. New media according to Perse (2001), is influencing more young people than television and all the other traditional media combined.



2.3.9 Sex education globally and in Africa

Briggs (1991) assets that, people under 20 years of age who constitute about 50% of the world's population are at the highest risk of sexual and reproductive health challenges; thus making sexuality the foundation of most sexual and reproductive health problems (Briggs, 1991). While many countries, societies and cultures around the world are yet to approve for the introduction

of sexual health education in schools, because of the variation in their socio-cultural background, belief system, political system and religion, some countries consider sex education as a basis to dealing with issues related to reproductive health and sexual preferences among teenagers. According to WHO (2004), sexual health education is one of the five core aspects of the WHO global Reproductive health strategy approved by the World Health Assembly in 2004 (WHO, 2004).

According to Halonen. & Santrock (1996), in Sweden sex education has been a mandatory part of school education since 1956. The subject usually started for children between the ages of 7 and 10 and then continues through to the other grades and integrated into different subjects such as biology and history. Also, the Swedish national board of education designed a curriculum that makes sure children in the country are introduced to reproductive biology and by the ages 10 to 12 would have been well informed about the various forms of contraception. (Halonen. & Santrock, 1996).



England on the other hand, sex education is not compulsory in schools as parents refused to let their children take part in such lessons. Their curriculum concentrates on the reproductive system, foetal development and safe sex is discretionary and discussion about relationships is often neglected. Britain has one of the highest teenage pregnancy rates in Europe and sex education is a heated issue in government and media reports (Huffstutter, 2007).

However, in Germany, sex education has been part of school curriculum since 1970. In 1992, sex education became mandatory by law. It usually covers all subjects regarding the growth processes, body changes, puberty, emotions, the biological process of reproduction, sexual

activity, partnership, homosexuality, unwanted pregnancies and the implication of abortion, the danger of sexual abuse and violence, child abuse, and sexually transmitted diseases (CDC, 2017).

Similarly, in Japan, sex education is also mandatory from age 10 or 11 years, mainly comprising biological topics such as menstruation and ejaculation. In China and Sri Lanka, sex education traditionally consists reading the reproduction sections of the biology textbooks.

On the contrary, in most Africa countries, especially in Nigeria, sex education is scorned upon as a taboo that should not be talked about in the midst of children. Generally, children are not permitted to have access to information on sexual health, because the society frowns upon it with the perception that such exposure will pervert their minds and influence them to becoming victims of early sexual intercourse, hence the subject is not part of the curricular of basic school. In 2002 the Nigerian Educational Research and Development Council (NERDC) in conjunction with the Federal Ministry of Education, civil societies and many other International Development Partners designed and proposed a detailed curriculum on Sexuality Education for both primary and secondary schools, this was met with mixed feelings and triggered strong debates especially in Northern Nigeria. Within a very short time, deliberations on its acceptability or otherwise was hijacked by religious leaders and other gatekeepers and was given different connotations and coloration. (Eko, Abeshi, Osonwa, Uwanede, & Offiong, 2013).



2.3.10 Sex education in Ghana

A confluence of sensitive cultural, religious and geographical factors have created a very sticky environment in Ghana, where issues of sexuality and reproductive health have remained delicate and unspoken subjects for decades (Mack, 2011). In the view of the same author, even though

sexual health is a key factor for productivity and national development in every society, the mere mention of 'Sex' in Ghana seems to evoke uncomfortable feelings among both young people and adults. Brocato & Dwamena-Aboagye (2007) is of the view that traditionally, children, especially girls in Ghana are raised up with strict discipline that makes it almost impossible to question their parents on matters of their sexuality. The effect is that young people become afraid to ask questions relating to sexual issues for fear of being misunderstood and as "disrespectful" and "disobedient", because of the perception that sexual issues are topics for adult discussions only. (Brocato & Dwamena-Aboagye, 2007).

According to Mbeo (1997), sexuality education in Africa dates back to pre-colonial times when parents and community elders used to provide it to reflect the culture and values of the particular place a person hails from (Mbeo, 1997). Pre-colonial African societies had no formal educational institutions like the ones in existence today, hence pre-colonial children and adults were educated through informal systems (Kenyata, 1972). The traditional family educational system, which usually starts from birth and ended at death during pre-colonial times, was such that each community made their own arrangements to ensure that all their community members well-educated on desirable social behaviours, necessary basic knowledge and relevant skills for their lives (Occiti, 1993).



UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

The stage at which sex education should start in our schools has become a very controversial topic. Osei, (2011) describes how his mother lost her teaching job in 2004 for teaching her Class One (P1) pupils the parts of the body. According to him, the Ghanaian government's approach toward sex education is one of uncertainty because, even though the subject is officially part of the science syllabus of the school curricula, it is not "effectively taught" in practice Osei, (2011).

Hence Ankomah (2001) is of the opinion that governments want to satisfy the religious critics in the society to the neglect of his own policy guidelines.

2.3.11 Challenges affecting the teaching of sexuality education

There are several challenges confronting teachers in their quest to teach sex education to their students in school. Chief among these problems, according to Ndlangisa (1999) is the passive attitude by most parents towards the subject, either in school or at home. In the rural setting, people still harbour the believe that sex education is a socially forbidden subject that has the potential of misleading the youth and their teachers into adopting pretentious social lifestyles (Madeod, 1999). Parents and guardians who are the first point of contact for learning for young people are unfortunately, often not supportive to them in providing the right information on sexuality at the home level, which should form the solid foundation for accurate knowledge about their sexuality. Additionally, the lack of opportunity for teachers to update their knowledge on sex education through in-service training is coupled with the absence of time allocation for the subject and the lack of structured content for the teaching of sexuality education are all part of the problems affecting the teaching of the subject.



The attitude of Learners' regarding sexuality education vary from one community to the other based on their social beliefs, peer groups, religious background, cultural settings within which learners are raised. (Gallagher & Gallagher. 1996). This confirms findings in the study area that learners do not feel comfortable talking about their sexuality because of their religious and social orientation.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides a description of the nature of educational research and discusses the research design and methodology that was used in the study. In the view of Bell (2005); Cohen, Manion & Morrison (2007), research has a very important place in education. This view is also shared by Drew, Hardman & Hosp (2008) who also contend that educational research is based on the use of certain methods of establishing beliefs and knowledge. Traditionally, researchers use three lenses for educational research, namely quantitative, qualitative and mixed-method designs (Bell, 2005; Cohen, et. al., 2007). The chapter also describes the data collection procedure, the sampling method and the approach adopted for analysing the data.

3.2 Research Design



The research was undertaken using a quantitative approached based on the survey design. It relied on the use of a self-administered questionnaire as the main data collection tool. Survey, according to McMillan & Schumacher (1993), involves the administering of questionnaires to gather information on variables of interest. In this regard, Gall, Gall, & Borg (2003) are of the view that the survey design enables the researcher to reach many respondents as much as possible, allowing the researcher to do an informed generalisation of the research findings within the context of the study. A total of eighty-three (83) respondents from ten (10) basic schools in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit in the Sagnarigu district were involved in the study. The school that were selected for the study comprised, six Local Assembly Basic Schools, two Christian

Mission Basic Schools and two Arabic Mission Basic Schools. This was deliberately meant to allow the collection of views from respondents across different socio-cultural environments. All the respondents involved in the study were trained professional teachers with various years of teaching experience. The data collected concerned the depth of their knowledge on sexuality, the training teachers receive towards the teaching of sex education and the relevance of the sex education they give. The design was found to be most appropriate for the study because it helped in answering the key research questions towards accomplishing the purpose of the study. According to LeCompte & Preisse (1993), it has been acknowledged that the survey method of data collection can stand alone as a design.

3.2.1 Sample selection and size

The target population for this study were teachers of basic schools in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit in the Sagnarigu district. The rational for selecting a single circuit context rather than multiple circuits or districts for this study was to collect data in a fairly homogeneous environment that would facilitate the control of plausible impact arising from uncontrollable external variables (Amine & Cavusgil, 1986). A convenient sample size of eighty-three (83) respondents were selected from a population of one hundred and four (104) teachers in the circuit. These respondents were selected from ten (10) basic schools, out of a total of fifteen (15) basic school in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit.



3.2.2 Sampling Procedure

This study adopted multi-sampling methods in selecting respondents. The random sampling approach was adopted for selecting the ten (10) out of fifteen (15) basic schools in the circuit, which includes Christian Mission schools, Islamic Mission schools and Local Government basic.

The same sampling approach was also used in selecting seventy-two (72) basic school teachers out of a total of one hundred and four teachers in the circuit. The purposive sampling approach was then adopted in selecting ten (10) head teachers and one (1) circuit supervisor, who are known to be key informants on the topic under study and thus could have enough information pertaining the study being conducted (Feldman, 1985). The purposive sampling was preferred for this this category of respondents because it is judgmental, allowing the researcher to handpick certain groups or individuals according to their relevance to the issue at hand (Aina & Ajifuruke, 2002). This was aimed at getting as more relevant and valuable qualitative data for the research as possible.

3.2.3 Data collection tools

The main tool used for the data collection was the questionnaire. Two sets of questionnaires were designed for the data collection, thus one 'A' for classroom teachers and two 'B' for head teachers and circuit supervisors. Both of the questionnaires contained twenty-two (22) close-ended questions and four (4) open-ended questions designed to critically assess the training of teachers on the influence of sex education in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit in the Sagnarigu district. The four open-ended questions were used as a guide to interview Head Teachers and Circuit Supervisors towards obtaining qualitative data to validate the quantitative data.



3.2.4 Data collection and processing

The questionnaire which was the main tool used for the data collection were distributed to the selected respondents in the study area to complete and return within two weeks. This was done with support of a Research Assistant. The researcher also availed herself during the period to

clarify and offer further assistance to respondents in completing the questionnaire. This strategy facilitated the data collection process, because it allowed the respondents' time to fill in the data. It also enabled the researcher to respond to all queries that arose during the data collection. This ensured the accurate and speedy return of the questionnaires. Scheduled interviews were also held with Head Teachers and the Circuit Supervisor. These were done personally by the researcher to obtain in-depth qualitative data on the subject.

3.2.5 Data analysis

Data analysis was done at two levels: first, was by physically checking through the questionnaires for accuracy, completeness and consistency. It also involved sorting out the questionnaires according to the different respondents and then coding them ready for capturing. The next level was the analysis of the data using tools of the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS) software version 23. Descriptive Statistical tools such as frequencies were used to gauge the number of occurrences of the variables being studied. This enabled analysis of the data to obtain meaningful results for further discussions (Cohen, et. al., 2007). Results were presented using tables and bar charts. The qualitative data was also further analysed in line with the research questions to establish patterns of similarities and variations. These were then validated with the quantitative data for any possible contradictions in the findings.



3.2.6 Quality Control

For this research, data was first cleaned by checking for consistency, completeness and accuracy; and then coded and categorized for analysis and discussions. This was done in line with the view held by Marshall and Rossman, (1989), that the operations of data analysis include editing, coding, classification and tabulation. It also entails categorizing, ordering, manipulating and

summarizing data in order to find answers to the research questions (Feldman, 1985). Thereafter, the data was then analysis using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) software version 23.

3.2.7 Ethical Requirements

There are a number of ethical issues that a researcher must consider when designing research that will utilize participants. Ethics are moral standards that can be followed in situations where there can be potential harm or actual harm to an individual, a group or an institution (Churchill, 1992). In view of this respondents were informed of confidentiality when they were given the questionnaires. Assurance of confidentiality and the freedom to choose to answer questions were also readily communicated and indicated on the questionnaire.



CHAPTER FOUR

FINDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents findings of data analysis on the study, "training teachers on the influence of sex education in basic schools in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit in the Sagnarigu district. The influence of teachers towards the teaching of sex education in the study area were examined from the analysis of both primary and secondary data using descriptive data analysis and findings tools such as tables and charts. This chapter therefore presents results and discussions in relation to the research questions of the study which included:

- i. How knowledgeable are teachers in sex education?
- ii. How does the training teachers receive influence the teaching of sex education?
- iii. What are the challenges affecting the teaching of sex education?

4.2 Findings



The study targeted two category of respondents; thus, classroom teachers on one hand and school managers (head teachers and circuit supervisors) on the other hand. Seventy-two (72) basic school classroom teachers and ten (10) head teachers including one (1) circuit supervisor, were sampled from ten (10) basic schools in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit. Majority (about 81%) of the respondents were sampled from the Upper Primary and Junior High School. Two separate questionnaires were designed and administered to the two category of respondents independently. The questionnaire for the basic school classroom teachers sought to illicit responses regarding their level of knowledge, skills and competencies in teaching sex education. While the questionnaire for the head teachers and circuit supervisor sought to find out if sex

education was being taught at all and whether teachers receive training in teaching the subject. The data was coded and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS). The findings were then presented using tables and graphs.

4.2.1 Demographic variables and respondents profile

Figure 4.1 below indicates the demographic characteristics of respondents in terms gender, age and educational qualification attained.



Figure 4.1: Demographic Characteristics of Respondents

As depicted in figure 4.1, out of eighty respondents, majority (64%) were male, whilst 16% were female. In terms of their ages 15% were between the ages of eighteen and thirty years, 56.3%



Source: Field Survey, 2016

fell between the ages of thirty-one and forty years, 21.3% between the ages of forty-one to fifty years whilst 7.5% were fifty years and above. This signifies that majority of respondents sampled for the study were mostly young adults in their prime ages. With regards to the educational qualifications of respondents, figure 4.1 further reveals that respondents were mostly first degree (52.5%) and diploma (36.3%) holders. A few however had Masters Degrees (10%) and Teacher Training Educational Certificate 'A' (1.3%).

4.2.2 Research Questions 1: Knowledge of teachers in sex education

The knowledge of teachers in sex education was assessed based on their responses to questions in the questionnaire.

Rate of knowledge	No. of Respondents	Percentage of Respondents
High level	11	13.3%
Average level	61	73.5%
Low level	11	13.3%

Table 4.1: Analysis of respondents according to knowledge in Sex Education

Source: Field Survey, 2016



The results show that majority, about seventy-three point five percent (73.5%) of teachers indicated they had average knowledge about sex education. This appears to be in sharp contradiction with the recommendation by Kakavoulis, (2001) and Badhan et. al., (2002), who suggested that teachers of sex education should have special personal characteristics as well as good training and attitude towards sex education in order to be encouraging in their behaviour. The indication of average knowledge in sex education in this study therefore, is in itself a

discouraging factor for teachers to want to teach the subject to their pupils. This view is also supported by the conclusions reached by Ndlangisa (1999), that teachers cannot advise children on sexuality issues because they the teachers themselves were not exposed to sex education at their homes and in their training. Indeed, this lack of confidence by teachers in their own knowledge and discretion to serve, constrain them from attempting to resolve issues of sexuality with their pupils. The analysis also revealed that about thirteen point three percent (13.3%) of respondents indicated high knowledge of sex education. This was confirmed during the interviews with the Circuit Supervisor and Head Teachers, who revealed that "some teachers occasionally benefit from in-service training programmes often organised by the district education office in collaboration with organisations such as the Planned Parenthood Association of Ghana (PPAG), the United Nations International Children's Educational Fund (UNICEF) and other local Non-governmental organisations working to promote sexual awareness among young people." (Circuit Supervisor, Gumani/Nyanshegu)



4.2.3 Research Questions 2: Influence of Training Teachers' Receive on the Teaching of Sex





Source: Field Survey, 2016

Figure 4.2 presents results of findings on the influence of training teachers receive on the teaching of sex education. The figure shows that seventy-four point four zero percent (74.40%) indicated that they do not teach sex education. Twenty-one point nine five percent (21.95%) of respondents indicated that they teach sex education to their pupils. Whilst Three point six five percent (3.65%) of respondents indicated that they were not sure if they teach sex education of or not. Of the twenty-one point nine five percent (21.95%) who teach sex education, fifty-two point four three percent (52.43%) said they had ever received training on sex education. Thirty-six point five eight percent (36.58%) said they have never received any training on sex education. While Ten point nine seven percent (10.97%) said they were not sure.



These findings indicate that even though majority of respondents do not teach sex education in school due to their lack of training and mastery of the subject, some teachers who have had the opportunity of participating in training programmes on the subject, do teach it in school. This is corroborated by comments of the comments of the Circuit Supervisor which suggests that the District Education Office from time to time do collaborate with other organisations to organise In-Service Trainings for teachers on various topics. Also, interviews with the Head Teachers further revealed that "...even though there is no prescribed syllabus for teaching sex education in basic schools, some aspects of sex education are found in the Citizenship Education and the Natural Science syllabus." (Head Teacher of Our Lady of Fatima Primary School). However, due to the absence of a structured syllabus backed by clear policy direction and coupled with the diversity of the cultural backgrounds of pupils, teachers treat these topics with extreme caution. This concurs with an illustration by Osei, (2011) about how his mother lost her teaching job in 2004 for teaching her class one (1) pupils the parts of the body. According to him, the Ghanaian government's attitude toward sex education is best described as ambivalent because though the subject is officially part of the school curricula, it is not "effectively taught" in practice. (Osei, 2011).



The study also sought to confirm the availability and adequacy of content for the teaching and learning of sex education in basic schools. about 88.8%, answered 'no', indicating that there was no prescribed syllabus for the teaching of sex education in the basic schools. While 11.2% answered 'yes', indicated that there was prescribed syllabus for teaching sex education in the basic school. It is therefore indicative that the lack of a policy direction by the Ghana Education Service for the teaching of sex education in basic schools constrained any possible initiatives by

teachers to provide support for young people by way of teaching the subject in school, which might very much be needed.

4.2.4 Research Questions 3: Challenges affecting the teaching of sex education





Source: Field Survey, 2016



Figure 4.3, reveals that twenty-one point seven percent (21.7%) of respondents indicated lack of Teaching And Learning Materials, thirteen percent (13.0%) of respondents indicated religious and cultural barriers, twenty-nine percent (29.0%) of respondents indicated lack of time allocation on the academic timetable for the subject, seventeen point four percent (17.4%) of respondents indicated lack of in-service training for teachers resulting in insufficient knowledge, skills and techniques in handling the subject, whilst thirteen percent (13.0%) of respondents also mentioned shyness on the part of students and teachers as barriers in the teaching of the subject. However, five point eight (5.8%) of respondents maintained that the teaching of the subject in

school was not necessary, because it was more likely to expose pupils to early sex and promiscuity than helping them live responsible lives; since they are more likely to experiment some of the things they learn from the classroom. This view concurs with the view of Baron & Byme (1994) that cultures' hesitant attitude about sexuality is evident in the limitations placed on sex education in primary and secondary schools and often in its total absence from the curriculum. (Baron & Byme, 1994). Since Teaching and Learning Materials are a key part of every pedagogy, some of the respondents maintained that the absence of textbooks, videos and other useful learning materials in the schools was a disincentive to teachers who even desire to teach the subject amidst all the other challenges.

Also, socio-cultural and religious factors such as family orientation and religious beliefs affect the behaviour of people in society, which includes teachers. Such beliefs affect teachers' appreciation of trainings in such subjects as sex education. In the Gumani/Nyanshegu area for example, matters of sexuality are not encouraged in most homes, and as such, parents and teachers alike do not give first information about sexuality to their wards. This makes it appear somewhat awkward to contemplate teaching sex education in school. Knowledge enhancement and continuous updating is key to the work of teachers (Billingsley, 2004). Unfortunately, teachers are constraint in content because they are not exposed to key concepts about sex education.

Shyness about the subject expressed by 13% of respondents, further contributes to the low interest in teaching it. Most teachers and pupils feel shy and uncomfortable to talk about sexuality issues in class, perhaps due to their upbringing. Most basic school pupils often feel that speaking about sexuality issues in class will make them appear as 'bad' children. The absence

of the subject in the academic calendar coupled with the lack of in-service training for teachers in the subject makes it difficult for teachers to adequately guide pupils.



CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

The preceding chapter provided the results and analysis of the data collected from the various respondents on training teachers receive on sex education in the Gumani/Nyanshegu circuit. The analyses were done in line with the specific research questions of the study. This chapter therefore summarises the principal findings of the study from the analysis and also reviews how the objectives of the study were satisfied. Finally, the chapter presents the conclusions as well as recommendations on how in-service training/continuous professional development can better impact and influence the teaching of sex education at the basic school level.

5.2 Summary of Findings

The findings suggest that majority of basic school teachers in the Gumani/Nyanshegu District have average knowledge of sex education due to their lack of formal training and opportunity for continuous professional development in the subject as well as the lack of syllabus for the teaching of the subject. This obviously does not motivate teachers to teach sexuality education, even though it is not included in the academic calendar of basic schools.

Also, the lack of formal training for teachers in sexuality was found to be a disincentive for teacher's interest in teaching sexuality education at the basic school level in the Gumani/Nyanshegu Circuit. This situation is translated into a perceived lack of commitment by



educational authorities for the teaching of the subject; hence the non-inclusion of the subject in the basic school curricular.

Furthermore, the socio-cultural and religious orientation of the people, makes them view sexuality issues as a preserve for only adults. This further aggravates the 'lack of interest attitude' in the subject by teachers. Some respondents were of the view that, sex education in the basic school could be misconstrued as encouraging promiscuity. This perception, the study found, is a huge barrier to the teaching and learning of sexuality education at the basic school level, which requires decisive action by educational authorities to re-orient teachers about this perception through in-service training sessions.

Finally, the study revealed several challenges affecting the training of teachers on the influence of sex education in the basic schools, which include Lack of TLMs, Lack of in-service training for teachers, absence of time allocation for the subject in the academic calendar, socio-cultural and religious orientation of Ghanaians, shyness on the part of both teachers and pupils and the lack of adequate knowledge of the subject by teachers.



5.3 Conclusion

The conclusions presented in this section are in line with the findings and discussions presented in Chapter four based on the specific research questions of the study.

From the above findings the study concluded that lack of continuous professional training for teachers to update their knowledge on particular subject areas makes it difficult for teachers to influence behaviours and attitudes of pupils in the classroom. It was also observed that the

confidence of teachers to influence is limited when they are not adequately informed on the particular subject matter they are supposed to influence their pupils on.

It was also concluded that lack of formal training for teachers in sexuality education is a disincentive for teachers to make a positive impact in the classroom. This situation is perceived as lack of commitment by educational authorities to the teaching of the sexuality education; hence the non-inclusion of the subject in the basic school curricular.

Further from the finding, the study concludes that the socio-cultural and religious beliefs and practices of a people affects the teaching of sex education in school. It was observed that sex education could be misconstrued as an encouragement to young people to engage in early sexual promiscuity.

Finally, the study concludes that there cannot be effective sex education without the appropriate logistics such as TLMs, syllabus and time allocation for the subject. The study also acknowledges that the availability of these materials must go along with appropriate capacity building for teachers to be well positioned to teach the subject.



5.4 Recommendations

Based on the findings and conclusions of the study, the following recommendations have been proposed:

It is recommended that teachers should be supported to improve their capacity in sexuality education through regular training and continuous professional development sessions. This will

enable teachers learn contemporary knowledge and skills on the subject and also update their capacities in this direction.

Sexuality education should be included in the curricular and academic calendar of basic schools, along with the provision of adequate TLMs and the right collaboration with appropriate agencies for the effective teaching of the subject. Sex education needs to be given maximum attention just as any of the life skills subjects, with adequate investment and motivation to both teachers and pupils to ensure a meaningful impact.

There should be regular monitoring, supervision and assessment of the training of teachers and its influence on the teaching of the subject and ensure that ethical considerations regarding cultural and religious sensitivities as well as individual privacy issues are upheld.





- Ackah, D., & Agboyi, M. R. (2016). The Effects of Training and Development on Employee Performance in the Public Sector of Ghana. *GRIN Verlag*, 58.
- Aggleton, P., & Cambell, C. (2000). Working with young people- toward an agenda for sexual health. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *15*(3).
- Aggleton, P., Baldo, M. G., & Slutkin. (1997). Sexuality Education and Young People's Sexual Behaviour: A review of studies. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *12*, 421-453.
- Ahmad, M. (2001). *To investigate the Causes of Dropout at Higher Level*. AIOU . Islamabad, Pakistan: Unpublished M. Phil. Education thesis.
- Ahmed, A. B., Omoogun, G. A., & Shaida, S. (2000). Trypanosome infections in Glossina species at the Kainji wild life Partk, Nigeria. *Entomological Society of Nigeria* Occasional Publication, 32, 57-62.
- Aina, L., & Ajifuruke, S. (2002). Research methodologies in Information Sciences in Research. Lagos: Palmer Press.
- Akinyemi, J. A. (1972). "Teacher's Education". In Adaralegbe, Adeniji (Ed.) A philosophy for Nigerian. Ibadan: Heinemann Educational Books Ltd.
- Alter, J. (2002). *Teaching Parents to be the Primary Sexuality Educators of their Children*. Bethesda: M.D: Mathtech,Inc.
- Amine, L., & Cavusgil, S. (1986). Export 'Marketing Strategies in the British Clothing Industry. European Journal of Marketing, 20(7), 21-33.
- Ampaire, & Korukiko. (1999). Research on Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health in Uganda. http://www.ugandadish.org/resources/aa/aa4.shtml ,16/05/05. Retrieved 05 16,

2005, from http://www.ugandadish.org/resources/aa/aa4.shtml ,16/05/05: http://www. ugandadish.org/resources/aa/aa4.shtml

- Ankomah, A. (2001). *The International Encyclopedia of Sexuality: Ghana*. New York: RobertT. Francoeur Publishers.
- Ankomah, Y., Koomson, J., Bosu, R., & Oduro, G. K. (2005). Implementing Quality Education in Low Income Countries .University of Cape Coast–Ghana. Institute for Educational Planning and Administration. Cape Coast: University of Cape Coast–Ghana.
- Armstrong, M. (1997). A Handbook of Personnel Management Practice reproduced in Perssonel in Practice. Oxford: Blackwell Business.
- Aronson, E. (1969). A theory of cognitive dissonance: A current perspective. In L.Berkowitz (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 4, . New York: Academic Press.
- Artino, A., & Stephens, J. (2006). Learning online: Motivated to self-regulate? Academic Exchange Quarterly, 10, 176–182.
- Athar, S. (1996). Sex education, teenage pregnancy, sex in Islam and marriage. Sex education: An Islamic perspective. Chicago: IL: Kazi Publications.
- Avert. (2009). South African HIV and AID statistics. Retrieved February 17, 2010, from http://www.avert.orgsafricastatistics.htm



Babalola, S. (2004). Perceived Peer Behaviour and the Timing of Sexual Debut in Rwanda:A Survival Analysis of Youth Data. *Journal of youth adolescence*, *33*(4), 353-363.

Badhan, S., Lal, P., & Kashyap, G. (2002). A study of Awareness and Attitude Regarding HIV/AIDS Amongst School Teachers of Delhi. *International Journal on HIV/AIDS*, 15, 11-16.

- Ball, D., & Cohen, D. (1999). Developing practice, developing practitioners: Toward a practicebased theory of professional education. . In L. Darling-Hammond, & G. Sykes, *Teaching as the learning profession* (pp. 3-32). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *National Centre for Biotechnology Information*, 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, 37(2), 122-147.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social-cognitive theory*. Upper Saddle River: NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social-cognitive theory*. Upper Saddle River: NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: Exercise of Control. New York: Freeman.

- Bandura, A., & Barab, P. G. (1973). Conditions Governing Non-reinforced Imitation. Development Psychology, 244-255.
- Bandura, A., Pastorelli, C., Barbaranelli, C., & Caprara, G. V. (1999). Self-efficacy pathways to childhood depression. *Journal of Personality and social Psychology*, *76*, 258-269.

Barnett, B. (1997). Gender norms affect adolescents. Network 17:3.



Bell, J. (2005). Doing your Research Project: A guide for first-time researchers in education, health and social science (4thEd). Berkshire: Open University Press.

Bernard, A. (1999). The child-friendly school: a summary. Paper written for UNICEF.

Bezuidenhout, J. F. (2004). A Reader on Selected Social Issues (3rd ed.). Pretoria,: Van Schaik.

- Bhana, D. (2012). Girls are not free In and out of the South African School. *The International Journal of Education and Development*, *32*, 352-358.
- Billingsley, B. (2004). Special education teacher retention and attrition: A critical analysis of the research literature. *The Journal of Special Education*, *38*(1), 39-55.
- Billy, J., Brewster, K., & Grady, W. (1994). Contextual effects on the sexual Behaviour of Adolescent woman. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *56*(2), 387-404.
- Birman, B., Desimone, L., Porter, A. C., & Garet, M. S. (2000, May). Designing professional development that works. *Educational Leadership*, 28-33.
- Blake, M., Simkin, L., Ledskly, R., Perkins, C., & M.C., J. (2001). Effects of a Parent-Child Communications Intervention on Young Adolescents' Risk for Early Onset of Sexual Intercourse. *Journal of Family Planning Perspectives, March/April, 33*(2), 52-61.
- Bolam, R. (2002). Professional development and professionalism. In T. Bush, & R. (. Bell, *The principles and practice of educational management* (pp. 103- 118). London: Paul Chapman.
- Bonwell, C. C., & Eison, J. A. (1991). Active learning: Creating excitement in the classroom.Washington, D.C: The George Washington University.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. *Educational Researcher, 33*(8), 3-15. Retrieved August 26, 2008, from http://www.aera.net/uploadedFiles/Journals_and_Publications/Journals/Educational_Re searcher/Volum
- Borko, H., & Putnam, R. T. (1995). Expanding a teacher"s knowledge base: A cognitive psychological perspective on professional development . In T. R. (Eds.), *Professional development in education* (pp. 35–66). New paradigms & practices.



- Boyle, B., While, D., & Boyle, T. (2004). A longitudinal study of teacher change: What makes professional development effective? *Curriculum Journal*, *15*(1), 45-68.
- Braeken, D., & ardinal, M. (2008). Comprehensive Sexuality Education as a Means of Promoting Sexual Health. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 50-62.
- Bransford, J., Darling-Hammond, L., & LePage. (2005). Introduction. In L. Darling-Hammond,
 & J. (. Bransford, *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able To Do.* Jossey-Bass.
- Briggs, N. D. (1991). Adolescent sexuality and its problems in an African Society. *Adolescent Genealogy*, 235-239.
- Brocato, V., & Dwamena-Aboagye, A. (2007). Violence against Women & HIV/AIDS. In e. a. Yvette Amissah, Violence Against Children In Ghana. Achimota, Ghana: The Ark Foundation Ghana.
- Browes, N. (2014). *The Strategies of Teachers & Students in Sexuality Education*. Ethiopia: UNIVERSITY OF AMSTERDAM.
- Brown, A., Shireen, J., Jejeebhoy, J., Shah, I., & Yount, K. M. (2001). Sexual relations among young people in developing countries: evidence from WHO case studies. Geneva: WHO
- Brown, R., & Renshaw, P. (2006). Transforming practice: Using Collective Argumentation to bring about teacher change in a Year 7 mathematics classroom. Retrieved 5 Feb 2009 http://www.merga.net.au/documents/RP82006.pdf.
- Bush, A. J., Smith, R., & Martin, C. (1999). The influence of consumer socialization variables on attitude toward advertising: A comparison of African-Americans and Caucasians. *Journal of Advertising*, 28(3), 13-24.
- Cardno, C. (2005). Leadership and professional development: The quiet revolution. . International Journal of Educational Management, 19(4), 292-306.



- Carron, G., & Chau, T. (1996). *The quality of primary schools in different development contexts* . Paris: UNESCO.
- CDC. (2017, February 20). https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/2017/2017_ standard_yrbs_item_rationale.pdf. Retrieved from Youth Risk behaviour survey: www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth
- Chapman, D., & Adam, D. (2002). The Quality Education: Dimensions and Strategies. *Education in Developing Asia*, 5, 2-52.

Choudry, I. Y. (1995). Areas of Applied Psychology. Lahore: Imperial Book Depot.

- Clark, P. W., Martin, C. A., & Bush, A. J. (2001). The effect of role model influence on adolescents' materialism and marketplace knowledge. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 9(4), 27-37.
- Clarke, D., & Hollingsworth, H. (2002). Elaborating a model of teacher professional growth. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, *18*(8), 947-967.
- Clement, L., Chauvot, J., Philipp, R., & Ambrose, R. (2003). A method for developing rubrics for research purposes. (Eds.), Proceedings. In N. Pateman, B. Dougherty, & J. Zilliox, *Proceedings of the 2003 joint meeting of PME and PMENA* (pp. 221-227). Honolulu: CRDG College of Education, University of Hawaii.



Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research methods in education (6th ed)*. New York: Routledge.

Council, N. S. (2001). Standards for Staff Development. Revised Edition. Oxford, OH.

- CRC. (1989). *www.ohchr.org*. Retrieved from http://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest /pages/crc.aspx: http://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx
- Dawes, R. M. (1972). Fundamentals of attitude measurement. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Dawson, D. (1986). The Effects of Sex Education on Adolescent Behaviour. *Family Planning Perspective*, 18(4), 162-170.
- Day, C. (1993). Research and the Continuing Professional Development of Teachers. Inaugural lecture delivered at the University of Nottingham on 19th November 1993. Nottingham : Unpublished.
- Day, C. (1999). Developing Teachers: The Challenges of Lifelong Learning. London: Falmer.
- Day, C., Sammons, P., Stobart, G., Kington, A., & Gu, Q. (2005). Teachers Matter: Variations in Work, Lives and Effectiveness. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- De Fleur, M. (1970). *Theories of mass communication, 2nd edition*. New York: David McKay Company,Inc.
- Dean, J. (1991). Professional development in school. Buckingham : Open University Press.
- Deane, D. (1999). The Lived Experience of First Sexual Encounters: A Qualitative Study of the Views of South Africa Students, Thesis. Johannesburg: Wits University.
- Desimone, L. M. (2009). Improving impact studies of teachers' professional development: Toward better conceptualizations and measures. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(3), 181-199.
- Desimone, L. M., Porter, A. C., Garet, M. S., Yoon, K. S., & Birman, B. F. (2002). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. *Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24(2), 81-112.
- Drew, C., Hardman, M., & Hosp, J. (2008). *Designing and conducting education research*. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Du Toit, A. D., & Van Staden, S. J. (2005). *Nursing Sociology, 3rd edition*. Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.


- Eko, Abeshi, S., Osonwa, K., Uwanede, C., & Offiong, D. (2013). Perception of Students' Teachers' and Parents' towards Sexuality Education in Calabar South Local Government Area of Cross River State, Nigeria. *Journal of Sociological Research*, 227.
- Eko, J. E., Abeshi, S. E., Osonwa, K. O., Uwanede, C. C., & Offiong, D. A. (2013). http://economics.txstate.edu/arp/285. Journal of Sociological Research, 4, No.2. doi:10.5296/jsr.v4i2.3836
- EMIS. (2016). Drop out rate in basic schools in the Sagnarigu Municipal. Sagnarigu: Ghana Education Service.
- Ertmer, P. A. (2005). Teacher pedagogical beliefs: The final frontier in our quest for technology integration? *Journal of Educational Technology Research and Development*, *53*(4), 25-39.
- Essel, R., Badu, E., Owusu-Boateng, W., & Saah, A. A. (2009). In-Service Training: An Essential Element in the Professional Development of Teachers. *Malaysian Journal of Distance Education*, 11(2), 55-64.
- Fafunwa, A. B. (1985). The purpose of teacher education in Nigeria, in Adaralegbe, A. (ed) APhilosophy for Nigerian Education. Ibadan: Heinemann Educational Books.
- Feiman-Nemser, S. (2001). From preparation to practice: Designing a continuum to strengthen and sustain teaching. *Teachers' College Record, 103*(6), 1013-1055.



Feldman, R. S. (1985). Social psychology: Theories research, and applications. NewYork: McGraw-Hill Book Company.

Festinger, L. (1957). A theory of cognitive dissonance. Evanston: IL: Row, Peterson.

FHI/IMPACT. (2000). Young Persons Fact Sheet. Nigeria: The Facts of Life in Nigerian Journal of General Practice, 6(5), 425-37.

- Findlay, H. J. (1989). Influence of Selected Experiences on Perceived Levels of Competence of Secondary Vocational Agriculture Teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47–53
- Firestone, W. A., Mangin, M. M., Martinez, M. C., & Polovsky, T. (2005). Content and coherence in district professional development: Three case studies. *Educational Administration Quarterly.*, 41(3).
- Fishbein, M. (. (1967). Preface. Attitude theory and measurement. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior. An introdution to theory and research reading. Massachusetts: Addison-Wisley.
- Forrester, S. (2009, August 6). Sex education that works. *Avert*. Retrieved August 6, 2009, from http://www.avert.org/sex-education.htm
- Francis, D. (2010). Sexuality education in South Africa. International Journal of International Development, 30, 314-319.
- Frimpong, S. O. (2010). Adolescents Attitude toward Sex Education; a Study of Senior High School in Kumasi Metropolis. *Academic Journal*, 18, 1.
- Fullan, M., & Stiegelhauer, S. (1991). The new meaning of educational change. London: Cassell.

Fullan, M., Hill, P., & Crevola, C. (2006). Breakthrough. Corwin Press.

- Furinghetti, F., & Pehkonen, E. (2002). Rethinking characterizations of beliefs. . In G. Leder, E.
 Pehkonen, & G. Toener, *Beliefs: A Hidden Variable in Mathematics Education?* (pp. 39-58). Kluwer: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Gabriel, R., Day, J. P., & Allington, R. (2011). Exemplary teacher voices on their own development. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(8), 37-41.

- Gall, D., Gall, P., & Borg, R. (2003). Educational Research- An Introduction, 7th edn. *Library* of Congress Cataloging-in- Publication Data, the United States of America.
- Gall, M. D., & Renchler, R. S. (1985). *Effective staff development for teachers: A researchbased model (ERIC)*. Oregon: College of Education, University of Oregon.
- Gallagher, J., & Gallagher, A. (1996). *A young women's guide to teenage sexuality*. New York: Harper Collins.
- Garet, M. S., Porter, A. C., Desimone, L., Birman, B. F., & Yoon, K. S. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 915-945.
- Garet, M., Birman, B., Porter, A., Desimone, L., Herman, R., & Suk Yoon, K. (1999). *Designing effective professional development: Lessons from the Eisenhower program*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Garet, M., Porter, A., Desimone, L., Birman, B., & Yoon, K. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Analysis of a national sample of teachers. *American Education Research Journal*, 38(4), 915-945.

Garmston, R. (1991). Staff developers as social architects. Educational Leadership, 49(3), 64-5.

Gibson, S., & Brooks, C. (2002). Technology-mediated Professional Learning. In T. Bastiaens,



- & G. Marks, *Proceedings of E-Learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education* (pp. 1629-1633). Unpublished.
- Gindis, B. (1995). The social/cultural implication of disability: Vygotsky's paradigm for special education. *Educational Psychologist, 30*(2), 77-82.
- Glatthorn, A., & Jailall, J. (2000). Curriculum for the new millennium. In Brandt, R. (ed.), Education in a new era: ASCD Yearbook 2000. Alexandria: Virginia: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- Goodall, J., Day, C., Lindsay, G., Muijs, D., & Harris, A. (2005). Evaluating the Impact of Continuing Professional Development, Research Report 659, Department for Education and Skills (206 pages). Unpublished.
- Gormly, N. V. (1992). *Understanding psychology*. Ohio: Glencoe MacmillanlMcGrawHill School Publishing.
- Guskey, T. (1997). "Research needs to link professional development and student learning". *Journal of Staff Development, 18*, 36-40.
- Guskey, T. R. (1994). Professional development in education. In search of the optimal mix. Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. New Orleans.

Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating professional development. Oaks: Corwin Press.

- Guskey, T. R. (2002b). Professional development and teacher change. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 8(3/4), 381-391.
- Guskey, T. R. (2003). "What Makes Professional Development Effective?". *Phi Delta Kappan*, 748-750.
- Guskey, T. R., & Sparks, D. (2002). Linking professional development to improvements in student learning. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association. New Orleans: LA.
- Guskey, T., & Huberman, M. (1995). Professional Development in Education: New Paradigms and Practices. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Halonen., J., & Santrock, J. (1996). *Psychology: contents of behaviour*. Madison: Brow & Benchmark.
- Halstead, J., & Reiss, M. (2003). *alues in Sex Education: From principles to practice*. London: Routledge Falmer.

- Hanley, P. G., Piazza, C. C., Fisher, W. W., & Maglieri, K. A. (2005). On the effectiveness of and preference for punishment and extinction components of function-based interventions. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 38, 51–65.
- Hanley, P., Maringe, F., & Rtcliffe, M. (2008). Evalution of professional development:
 Deploying a process-focused model. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30x(5), 711-725.
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Four ages of professionalism and professional learning. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 6 (2),* 151-182. doi:doi:10.1080/713698714,
- Hawley, W., & Valli, L. (1999). 'The essentials of effective professional development: A new consensus' in Darling-Hammond, Linda and Sykes, Gary, Editors (1999) Teaching as the Learning Profession. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Hellar, A. M. (2001). Parents' Attitude and Practice Towards Sexual and Reproductive Health Education to Adolescents in Korogwe District, Tanga. Dar es Salaam: Unpublished MPHIL Dissertation .
- Hill, H. C. (2007). Learning in the teaching workforce. The Future of Children, 17, 111-127.
- Hill, L. L., Levy, K. N., Meehan, K. B., & Reynoso, J. S. (2007). Reliability of a multidimensional measure for scoring reflective function. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 55, 309-313.
- Hine, T. (2000). *The Rise and Fall of the American Teenager*. New York: Harper Collins Publishers Inc.
- Hirsh, S. a. (2007). The Learning Educator: A New Era in Professional Learning. Oxford, Ohio: National Staff Development Council.
- Hom, P. W., & Kinicki, A. J. (2001). Toward a Greater Understanding of How Dissatisf action Drives Employee Turnover'. Academy of Management Journal, 44(5), 975-987.

- Huffstutter, P. J. (2007, April 8). States are refusing Bush's abstinence-only sex ed. *The Los Angels Times*.
- Ikamba, L. M., & Ouedraogo, B. (2003). High-risk sexual behaviour: knowledge, attitudes and practice among youths at Kichangani Ward. *Paper Presented at the Workshop on Youth and HIV/AIDS in Tanzania*. Dar es Salaam: Workshop on Youth and HIV/AIDS in Tanzania.
- John, D. R. (1999). Consumer socialization of children: A retrospective look at twenty-five years of research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *6*(3), 183-213.

Johns, G. (1996). Organizational Behavior. USA: Harper Collins College Publishers.

- Johnson, B. (2010). Job satisfaction, self-efficacy, burnout, and path of teacher certification: Predictors of attrition in special education teachers. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Thesis database.
- Joyce, B., & Showers, B. (2002). *Designing Training and Peer Coaching: Our needs for learning*. VA, USA: ASCD.
- Kaaya, S., Mukoma, W., Flisher, A., & Klepp, K. (2002). School-based sexual health interventions in sub-Saharan Africa: A review in Social Dynamics. *A journal of African studies*, 28(1), 64-88.



UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

- Kakavoulis, A. (2001). Family and Sex Education : A Survey of Parental Attitudes, Sex Education: Sexuality, Society and Learning. *Journal of Sex Education*, 1(2), 163-174.
- Karpati, A., & Gaul, E. (1995). Arts Education in Post-Communist Hungary. Ideologies, Policies, and Integration. Arts Education Policy Review, 1, 11-17.
- Kelly, G. F. (2004). Sexuality today: The human perspective. In D. Langdridge, *Introduction to research methods and data analysis in Psychology*. Boston: McGraw Hill.

Kenyata, J. (1972). Facing Mount Kenya the tribal life of Kikuyu. London: Secker and Warburg.

- Kerry, T. a. (2004). *Effective Classroom Teacher: Developing the Skills You Need in Today's Classroom.* London: Pearson Education.
- Kirb, D., Lepore, G., & Ryan, J. (2005). Factors Affecting Teen Sexual Behavior, Pregnancy, Childbearing and Sexually Transmitted Disease: Which Are Important? Which Can You Change? The National Campaign to Prevent Teen Pregnancy.
- Kirby, D. (2001). *Emerging answers: New research findings on programme reducing teenage pregnancy*. Washington D.C.
- Klemp, J., Moore, A., & Mary, C. (2003). *The ECK HI 2 Discourses*. Minneapolis: ECKANKAR.
- Kohler, P., Manhart, L., & Lafferty, W. (2008). Abstinence-only and comprehensive sex education and the initiation of sexual activity and teen pregnancy. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 42, 344–351.

Kolbe, K. (2009). Self-efficacy results from exercising control over personal conative strength.

- Kwakman, K. (2003). Work stress and work-based learning in secondary education: Testing the karasek model. *Human Resource Development International*, *4*, 149-170.
- Lawal, O., Adebowale, K., & Oderinde, R. (2004). Functional properties of amylopectin and amylose fractions isolated from bambarra groundnut (Voandzeia subterranean) starch. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 3(8), 399-404.



- LeCompte, M., & Preisse, J. (1993). Ethnography and qualitative design in educational. International Journal of Inclusive Education, 369-376.
- Lefkowitz, S., Boone, L., & Shearer, L. (2003). Communication with best friends about sexrelated topics during emerging adulthood. *Journal of youth adolescence - A multidisplinary research publication.*, *33*(4), 339-351.

Lieberman, A., & Miller, L. (2001). Introduction . In A. Lieberman, & L. Miller, *In Teachers Caught in the Action: Professional Development that Matters*.

Lieberman, A., & Pointer Mace, D. (2008). Teacher learning: the key to education reform. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(3), 226-234.

Lim, J., & Kui, Y. T. (2006). Sexually speaking. New Straits Times, 6-7.

Little, J. W. (1993). Teachers' professional development in a climate of education reform. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 15(2), 129-151.

Lugoe, W. L. (1996). Predictionof Tanzania students HIV risk and preventive behaviour in Arusha Tanzania. Arusha: Unpublished.

- Luthans, F. (1993). Organizational Behaviour. 6th Ed. . In N. M. Mackenzie, E. H. C., & Jones, *Teaching and Learning: An Introduction to New Methods and Resources in Higher Education. Paris, P.291* (p. 59.). New York. USA. : McGraw-Hill.
- Mack, J. (2011). Institutionalized stigma in Ghana: Stigma, Shame and Sexuality: Gender across borders. Retrieved 3 25, 2012, from /blog/2011/09/21/institutionalizedstigma: www.rhrealitycheck.org/
- Macleod, C. X. (1999). The causes of teenage pregnancy. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 29 (1), 32-40.



Magnani, R., Gaffikin, L., Espinoza, V., Z., E., G.M., R., Seiher, E., & Robinson, A. (2000). *Final report for focus on young adults program.* Washington. DC.

Mahn, H. (1999). ESL students and the reading and writing processes: An attitudinal profile. Unpublished master's thesis, California State University. Los Angeles, CA.

Maina, S. (2013). The Effect of Lecturer's Attitude toward the Performance of Students in Purchasing Management in Ramat Polytechnic Maiduguri. Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 2, 7. Majova, C. (2002). Secondary school learners' attitudes towards sex education. Zululand: University of Zululand.

Manu, S. (1993). In-service Education for Teachers (INSET) in Ghana. Accra: Unpublished.

- Mascarenhas, O. A., & Higby, M. (1993). *Peer, +parent, and media influences in teen apparel shopping* (1 ed., Vol. 21). Academy of Marketing Science.
- Mash, R., & Kareithi, R. (2005). Youth and Sexuality Research Ages 12-19 years in the Diocese of Cape Town South Africa. Cape Town: Fikelela AIDS Project.
- Maswanya, E., Moji, K., Aoyagi, K., Yahata, Y., Kusano, Y., Nagata, K., . . . Takemoto, T. (2000). Knowledge and attitudes towards HIV/AIDS among female college students in Nagasaki, Japan. *In Health Education Research, Theory & Practice, 15*.
- Mbananga, N. (2002). A Sociological Study of Reproductive Health Information in South Africa, Thesis. Johannesburg: Wits University.
- Mbeo, F. E. (1997). A Social cultural study for institutionalization of FLE in schools and at teachers college in Tanzania. . Dares salaam: Dares -salaam University Press.
- Mbonile, L., & Kayombo, E. J. (2008). Assessing of parenting/Guardian of adolescents toward introduction of sex and reproductive health education. *East African Journal of Public Health Association*, *5* (1), 26 31.



- McCormack, B., Dewar, B., Wright, J., Garbett, R., Harvey, G., & Ballantine, K. (2006). A Realistic Evaluation of Evidence Relating to Practice Development. *Edinburgh: NHS Quality Improvement*, 115-119.
- McKinsey, & Company. (2007). *How the World's Best-Performing School Systems Come Out* on Top. http:// www.michael_barber@mckinsey.com, 25/5/10.



- McLaughlin, M. W. (1997). Rebuilding teacher professionalism in the United States. In A.
 Hargreaves & R. Evans (Eds.), Beyond educational reform: Bringing teachers back in
 (pp. 77-93). Buckingham: Open University Press.
- McLaughlin, M., & Zarrow, J. (2001). Teachers engages in evidence-based reform: trajectories of teachers' inquiry, analysis, and action". In A. Lieberman, & L. Miller, *Teachers caught in the action: professional development that matters*. New York.
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (1993). *Research in Education: A conceptual Introduction*. New York: Harper Collins College Publishers.
- Mensah, C. A. (2008). Accessibility to and utilization of Primary Health Care in Ga, Dangme East and Dangme West Districts of the Greater Accra Region. 17th Intra-college Seminar, CASS, KNUST, Great Hall Conference Room, March 19. . Kumasi: Unpublished.
- Mgalla, Z., Schapink, D., & Boerma, J. T. (1998). Protecting schoolgirls against sexual exploitation: A guardian programme in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 6(12), 19-30.
- Miller, B., Lord, B., & Dorney, J. (1994). *Summary report. Staff development for teachers. A study of configurations and costs in four districts.* Newton: MA: Education Development Center.
- Mirembe, R., & Davies, L. (2001). Is Schooling a Risk? Gender, Power Relations, and School Culture in Uganda. *Gender and Education*, *13*(4), 401-416.
- Mkumbo, K. A. (2012). Teachers' Attitudes towards Comfort about Teaching School-based Sexuality Education in Urban and Rural Tanzania. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 4(4), 149-158.

- Mkumbo, K., & Tungaraza, F. D. (2007). *Parents' views and attitudes towards school based sex and relationships education in rural and urban Tanzania*. Dar es Salaam, DUP: Dar es Salaam: DUP.
- MoEVT. (2010). Proposed Programs and Activities for the Zanzibar Education Development Plan (ZEDP) 2008-2015. Zanzibar: ZEDCO.
- Moore, J. N., Raymond, M. A., Mittelstaedt, J. D., & Tanner, J. J. (2002). Age and consumer socialization agent influences on adolescents' sexual knowledge, attitudes, and behavior: Implications for social marketing initiatives and public policy. *Journal of Public Policy and Marketing*, 21(1), 37-53.

Moore, S., & Rosenthal, D. (1993). Sexuality in adolescence. London.: Routledge.

Mori, E. S. (2004). Young peoples' knowledge, attitude and practice of safer sex in the period of rising HIV/AIDS prevalence in Kinondoni, Dar es Salaam. Dar es Salaam: Unpublished M.A. Dissertation, University of Dar es Salaam.

Mukasekuru., E. (2001). Social reintegration of women and girls victims of sexual abuse during the 1994 genocide in Rwanda, case of the association ABASA-BUTARE. *U.N.R, Butare*.

Mwakagile, D., Mmari, E., Makwaya, C., Mbwana, J., Biberfeld, G., Mhalu, F., & Sandstrom,

E. (2001). Sexual behaviour among youths at high risk for HIV-1 infection in Dar esSalaam, Tanzania. *BMJ Journal*, 255–259.



- Ndeki, S. S., Keap, K. T., Kema, M. N., Babuel, A., & Msuya, M. H. (1994). AIDS Education for Primary School Children' The youth people at risk fighting AIDS in Northern Tanzania. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Ndlangisa, N. J. (1999). Perceptions of adolescents and their parents on the content and source of sex education. Transkei. : Unpublished masters' thesis,Umtata: University of Transkei. .

- Netting, N. (1992). Sexuality in Youth Culture: Identity and change. *In Adolescence*, 27(108), 961-976.
- Newcomb, T. M. (1996). The prediction of interpersonal attraction.". American Psychologist, 11, 575-586.
- Nichcy. (2005). Sexuality Education for Children and Youth with Disabilities. http://www.nichcy.org/pubs/outprint/nd17txt.htm.
- Nokwe, J. K. (1991). The attitudes of teachers and parents towards offering sex education as a separate course in Senior Secondary Schools. Transkei.: Unpublished B.Ed. dissertation, Umtata: University of Transkei.
- O'Guinn, T. C., & Shrum, L. J. (1997). The role of television in the construction of consumer reality. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 23(4), 278-294.
- Occiti, P. J. (1993). An Introduction of indigenous education in East Africa. Makerere: Makerere University Press.
- Oetting, E. R., & Donnermeyer, J. F. (1998). Primary socialization theory: The etiology of drug use and deviance. I. *Substance Use and Misuse*, *33*, 995-1026.
- Ololube, N. P. (1997). An appraisal of teachers' perception of academic and professional training on teachers' job effectiveness in secondary schools in Ndokwa East Local Government Area of Delta state of Nigeria. Unpublished Masters' degree thesis, (M. Ed).
 Abraka, Nigeria: Delta State University.
- Ololube, N. P. (2005). Benchmarking the Motivational Competencies of Academically Qualified Teachers and Professionally Qualified Teachers in Nigerian Secondary Schools. *The African Symposium*, 5(3), 17-37.
- Orji, E., & Esimai, O. (2003). Introduction of Sex Education into Nigerian Schools: The Parents', Teachers' and Students' Perspectives. *Journal of Obstet Gynaecol*, *23*(2), 185-188.



- Osei, A. (2011, 09 28). Sex Education in Ghanaian Society: The Skeleton in the Cupboard. Retrieved from Retrieved from ashesi.edu.gh/: images/academics/writing/center/ 09_osei_ess ay.pdf
- Osei, A. (2011, 09 28). Sex Education in Ghanaian Society: The Skeleton in the Cupboard. Retrieved from Retrieved from ashesi.edu.gh: www.ashesi.edu.gh/images/academics/ writing/center/09_osei_ess ay.pdf
- Oshi, C., Nakalema, S., & Oshi, L. (2004). *Cultural and social aspects of HIV, AIDS sexual* education in secondary schools in Nigeria. Enugu State, Nigeria: New Haven.
- Parsons, E. C. (2003). A teacher's use of the environment to facilitate the social development of children. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *18*(1), 57-70.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). *How college affects students: Findings and insights from twenty years of research*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Perse, E. M. (2001). Media Effects and Society. New Jersey: Routledge.

- Petro, B. (2009). Teachers' Views and Attitudes Towards Adolescents who are Involved in Sexual Relationships in Tanzanian Secondary Schools. Dar es Salaam: Unpublished MA Dissertation.
- Piotrow, P., Rimon, J. I., Winnard, K., Kincaid, D., Huntington, D., & Convisser, J. (1990). Mass media family planning promotion in three Nigerian cities. *Studies in Family Planning*, *1*(5), 265-74.
 - Plummer, M. L., Wight, D., Obasi, A., Wamoyi, J., Mshana, G., Todd, J., ... Ross, D. A. (2006).
 A process evaluation of a school-based adolescent sexual health intervention in rural
 Tanzania: MEMA kwa Vijana programme. *Health Education Research*, 22(4), 55-512.



- Pokharel, S., Kulczycki, A., & Shakya, S. (2006). School-based sex education in Western Nepal:
 Uncomfortable for both teachers and Students. *Reproductive Health Matters*(28), 151-161.
- Powell, L., & Jorgensen, S. (1985). Evaluation of church-based sexuality program for adolescents. *Journal of Family relations*, 34, 475-482.
- Powers, G. P., & Baskin, W. (1969). *Sex Education in a Changing Culture*. London: Peter Owen Limited.
- Rabenoro, M. (2004). Between the "Blindfold" and reality. ARSRC Sexuality in Africa, Magazine, 1(2), 4-6.
- Rahman, J. L. (2001). *The effects of parent involvement on student success*. Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin-Stout.
- Redmond, M. (2000). *Communication: Theories and Applications, Houghton Mifflin Company*,. New York: Iowa State University .
- Reis, J., & Seidl, A. (1989). School Administrators, Parents and Sex Education: A Resolvable Paradox. Adolescence, 24(5), 639-645.

REPRO/GTZ. . (2000). The questions adolescents ask most frequently about male-female relationships and their answers. Dar es Salaam: Dar es Salaam: Author.

Richardson, V. (1990). Significant and worthwhile change in teaching practice. *Educational Researcher*, 19, 10-18.

- Rijsdijk, L., Lie, R., Bos, A., Leerlooijer, J., & Kok, G. (2012). Sexual and reproductive health and rights: implications for comprehensive sex education among young people in Uganda, Sex Education. *Sexuality, Society and Learning, 16*, 76.
- Rob, U. (2003). Bangladesh Parents' Knowledge and Attitudes about Adolescent Reproductive Health Issues. *Presentation at the 131st Annual Meeting (November 15-19, 2003) of*



APHA. APHA. Retrieved 05 30, 2005, from http://apha.confex.com/apha/131am /techprogram/paper_58781.htm,

- Rogow, D., & Haberland, N. (2005). Sexuality and Relationships Education: towards a social studies approach. *Sex Education*, 5(4), 333-344.
- Rokeach, M. (1986). Beliefs, attitudes and values: A theory of organization and change. . California: Jossey-Bass Inc.

Rose, J. (2006). Independent review of the teaching of early reading. London: TTRB3.org.uk.

Rosen, E., Murray, J., & Moreland, S. (2004). Sexuality education in school: the international experience and implications fro Nigeria. *Policy working paper*(12), 1-1.

Ruben, B. D. (1985). Information and Behaviour. New Jersey: Transaction Inc.

- Sabia, J. (2006). Does Sex Education Affect Adolescent Sex Behaviour. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 25(4), 783-802.
- Saeed, M. (2001). *A Study of Principal as Instructional Supervisor*. Lahore, Pakistan: Taleemi Zaviyay; Pakistan Education Foundation.
- Sapire, K. (1986). *Contraception and sexuality in health and diseases*. Johannesburg: McGraw-Hill.
- Scheerens, J. (1992). Effective schooling. Research, theory and practice. London: Cassell.
- Schneider, T. D. (1988). *Information and entropy of patterns in genetic switches*. . Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Sears, D. O., Freedman, J. L., & Peplau, L. A. (1985). Social psychology. 5Th edition. New Jersey: Prentice-HaII, Inc.
- SELL. (2017). Sharing Education and Learning for Life Manual for Facilitators (Vol. 2).Kumasi: PK Sarpong Publications.

- Shaffer, T. E. (1960). The Role of the School and the Community in Sex Education and related Problems. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 195, 667-670.
- Shemdoe, A. I. (2005). Attitude of parents towards sexual socialization of adolescents: A case study of the Zaramo tradition Kisarawe. Dar es Salaam.: Unpublished M.A. Dissertation University of Dar es Salaam.
- Shuby, K. (2004). Sexual and reproductive health need of young people: A study examining the fit between need and current programming Responses in India. University of Bielefeld, India: Unpublished PhD Theses .
- Shuby, K. (2004). Sexual and reproductive health need of young people: A study examining the fit between need and current programming Responses in India. India: (PhD Theses) University of Bielefeld.
- Siegel, D. L., Coffey, T. J., & Livingston, G. (2001). *The great tween buying machine: Marketing to today's tweens*. Ithaca, NY: Paramount Market Publishing.

Singh, .. (2001). Sexual Education, AIDS and Sexuality. Authors press.

- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self-efficacy and relations with strain factors, perceived collective teacher efficacy, and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99, 611-625.
- Smith, K., & Harrison, A. (2013). Teacher's attitudes towards adolescent sexuality and life-skills education in rural South Africa. Sex Education: Sexuality, Society and Learning, 13(1), 68-81.
- Smylie, M. A., & Conyers, J. G. (1991). Changing conceptions of teaching influence the future of staff development. *Journal of Staff Development*, *12*, 12-16.
- Sparks, D. (2001). Change: It's a matter of life or slow death: An interview with Robert Quinn. *Journal of Staff Development*, 22(4), 49-53.

- Sparks, D., & Hirsh, S. (1997). *A new vision for staff development*. Alexandria : VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Stack, S. (1994). The Effect of Geographic Mobility on Premarital Sex. *Journal of Marriage* and the Family, 56(1), 204-208.
- Stajkovic, A. D., & Luthans, F. (1998). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A metaanalysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *2*, 240-261.
- Steinberg, L. (1996). Adolescent. Virginia: McGraw-Hill Temple University Press. Retrieved January 28, 2012, from http://www.nst.com.my/Current_News/NST/articles/12bees/ Article/index_html

Stigler, J., & Hiebert, J. (1999). The teaching gap. New York: The Free Press.

- Sule, M. (2013). The Effect of Lecturer's Attitude toward the Performance of Students in Purchasing Management in Ramat Polytechnic Maiduguri. Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 2, No 7.
- Tabulawa, R. T. (2004). Geography students as constructors of classroom knowledge and practice: a case study from Botswana. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *36*(1), 53-73.
- Temin, M., Okonofua, E., Omorodion, F., Renne, E., Coplan, P., Heggenhougen, H., & Kaufman, J. (1999). Perceptions of sexual behaviour and knowledge about sexually transmitted diseases among adolescents in Benin City, Nigeria. *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 25 (4), 186-195.
- Tilakavathi, S., Divekar, A., & Mehendale, S. (1997). Attitude Towards Sex Education among College Lectures. *Trends in Social Science Research*, *4*, 103-108.
- Todaro, M., & Smith, S. (2009). *Economic Development, Tenth Edition, USA*. USA: Pearson Education Limited.

Toor, K. K. (2012). Trends and Practices. MIER Journal of Education Studies,, 2, 177-189.



Triandis, H. C. (1971). Attitude and attitude change. . New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Trudell, N. (1993). Doing Sex Education: gemler politics anti schooling. London: Routledge.

Tschannen-Moran, M., Woolfolk Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68, 202-248.

UNICEF. (2001). Early Marriage: Child Spouses. Innocienti Digest.

- UNICEF. (2006). *Knowledge, attitudes, practices and behaviours study*. Windhoek: United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund.
- United Nations. (1995). Report of the International Conference on Population and Development. Accessible online at. UN, UNFPA. Geneva: http://www.unfpa.org/webdav/site/ global/shared/documents/publications/2004/icpd_eng.pdf.
- USAID. (2004). Impact of HIV and Sexual Health Education on Social Behaviour of Young People; A Review Update. Geneva.
- Uwibambe, L. (2004). Sociological study on sexual education of the Rwandese girl, ULK female students aged 18 to 25 and women in the Nyamwezi district after the 1994 genocide, Mémoire, ULK. Kigali: ULK.
- Uwiragiye, B. (2005). Knowledge of young people about HIV/AIDS and social communication as a channel for changing their behavior towards this pendemic, Kanombe district, Memory. Kigali: ULK.
- Vaughan, G. M., & Hogg, M. A. (1995). *Essentials of Social Psychology*. London: Pearson Education Limited.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1993). The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky. Volume 2: The fundamentals of defectology (abnormal psychology and learning disabilities) (R. W. Rieber & A. S. Carton, Eds.; J. E. Knox & C. B. Stevens, Trans.). New York: Plenum.

- Wade, J. M., & Arnold, S. J. (1984). On the Measurement of Natural and Sexual Selection: Theory. *Evolution*, 38(4), 709-719.
- Warren-Little, J. (2001). Organizing schools for teacher learning. In L. Darling-Hammond, &G. Sykes, *Teaching as the Learning Profession: Handbook of Policy and Practice*. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

Watkins, K. (2000). The Education Report. Oxfam: Oxfam, England.

- Weaver, H., Smith, G., & Kippax, S. (2005). School-based sex education policies and indicators of sexual health among young people: a comparison of the Netherlands, France, Australia and the United States. *Sex Education*, 5 (2), 171-188.
- Wheldall, K., & Glynn, T. (1989). *Effective classroom learning: A behavioural interactionist approach to teaching*. Oxford, UK: B. Blackwell.
- WHO. (2004). Reproductive health strategy to accelerate progress towards the attainment of international development goals and targets. Global strategy adopted by the 57th World Health. Geneva : Assembly. (http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2004/WHO_RHR_04.8.pdf).
- WHO. (2006). Reproductive health strategy to accelerate progress towards the attainment of international development goals and targets. Global strategy adopted by the 57th World Health Assembly. Geneva: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2004/WHO_RHR_04.8.pdf.



- Wight, D. (1999). Limits to empowerment-based sex education. *Health Education*, 6, 233-243.
- Wilson, T. (1998). Information Research: a case study in the free electronic publication of research. *VINE*, 28, 10 16.
- World Health Organisation. (2010). *Developing Sexual Health Programmes, A framework for action.* Geneva: WHO.

- Wozney, L., Venkatesh, V., & Abrami, P. C. (2006). Implementing computer technologies: Teachers" perceptions and practices. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 14, 173–207.
- Yoon, K., Duncan, T., Lee, S., Scarloss, B., & Shapley, K. (2007). Reviewing the evidence on how teacher professional development affects student achievement. (Issues & Answers Report, REL 2007 - No. 033). Washington, DC: US Department of Education.



www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

APPENDIX1: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR HEADTEACHERS AND CIRCUIT

SUPERVISOR

1. Age range $\bigcirc 18 - 30 \bigcirc 31 - 40 \bigcirc 41 - 50 \bigcirc 51 +$
2. Sex O Male O Female
3. What is your highest qualification? O Certificate O Diploma O Degree O Masters
4. Position O Head teacher O Circuit Supervisor
5. Level of basic school? O Primary School O Junior High School
6. Do you organize school-based in-service training on sex education for your teachers? Yes O No O
7. Do your teachers integrate sex education in their lessons? O yes O No
8. Have you observed or received reports on any sexual misbehaviour among your pupils?
\bigcirc Yes \bigcirc No
9. If yes, how was it resolved?
Are there enough teaching materials for the effective teaching of sex education in your
school?
OYes ONo 10. Do you think the teaching of sex education is beneficial to your pupils? O Yes O No
11. What is the attitude of teachers towards the teaching of sex education in your school?
O Positive O Negative O Normal
12. Are there any challenges affecting the teaching of sex education in your school? O Yes

No

www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

13. Please list them?	
ab	
C	
14. What is the impact of in-service training on the attitude of teachers in your school toward	ls
the teaching of sex education?	
a	
b	
C	
15. What can be done to improve the teaching of sex education in your school?	
a	
b	
C	
d	



..... Thank You

APPENDIX2: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR TEACHERS

- 1. Age range $\bigcirc 18 30 \bigcirc 31 40 \bigcirc 41 50 \bigcirc 51 +$
- 2. Sex O Male O Female
- What is your highest qualification? O Certificate O Diploma O Degree O Masters
- 4. Level of basic school? O Primary School O Junior High School
- What class do you teach? O Class Three O Class Four O Class Five O Class Six JHS One OJHS Two O JHS Three
- Has your District/Circuit/School ever organised in-service training for teachers in your school? OYes O No
- 7. Have you ever been nominated to attend an in-service training on sex education?

Yes () No ()

- 8. How often do you attend In-Service Training sessions on sex education? Once every term O Twice a year O Once a Year O Once every two years
- 9. Have you had any formal training on sex education? \bigcirc Yes \bigcirc No
- 10. How will you rate your understanding of sex education? O Low O Average O High
- 11. Do you teach sex education to your pupils? \bigcirc Yes \bigcirc No
- 12. How do you feel teaching sex education in school? ONormal OConvenient
 - O Inconvenient



www.udsspace.uds.edu.gh

- 13. Are there enough teaching materials for the effective teaching of sex education in your school? O Yes O No
- 14. Do you think the teaching of sex education is beneficial to your pupils? \bigcirc Yes \bigcirc No
- 15. What is the attitude of pupils towards the teaching of sex education in your school?

 16. Are there any challenges affecting the teaching of sex education in your school? Yes O No 17. Please list them? 	OPositive ONegative ONormal
 17. Please list them? 	16. Are there any challenges affecting the teaching of sex education in your school?
18. What is the impact of in-service training on the attitude of teachers in your school towards	O Yes O No
18. What is the impact of in-service training on the attitude of teachers in your school towards	17. Please list them?
18. What is the impact of in-service training on the attitude of teachers in your school towards	
18. What is the impact of in-service training on the attitude of teachers in your school towards	
19. What can be done to improve the teaching of sex education in your school?	19. What can be done to improve the teaching of sex education in your school?

